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 Suit filed by the plain;ffs (respondents herein)  seeking decree for

specific performance in respect of the property in dispute, has been decreed by

the trial Court. The appeal filed by the defendants has been dismissed by the

First Appellate Court. Out of four defendants impleaded in the suit, three of

them have filed these two separate appeals against the concurrent findings of

the Courts below. 

2.  Subject ma:er of dispute is House No.1, Sector 28A, Chandigarh.

Admi:edly, said house was owned by five persons namely, Sh. Jokhi Ram, his

wife Smt. Chawli Devi, two sons Shri Lakhpat Rai & Shri Ramesh Kumar and one

of the daughters-in-law namely Smt. Kamlesh Rani w/o Lakhpat in equal shares

i.e. 1/5 share each by virtue of a sale deed dated 19.09.1979.  This property

was mortgaged with State Bank of India, Sector 8, Panchkula.

Pleaded case of the plain�ffs:

3.1 As per the case set up by the plain;ffs, all the five owners i.e. Jokhi

Ram,  his  wife  Chawli  Devi,  two  sons  Lakhpat  Rai  &  Ramesh  Kumar  and

daughter-in-law - Kamlesh Rani agreed to sell the suit property to plain;ff No.1

Shri J.D. Gupta for total considera;on of  ₹12 lakh vide an agreement dated

24.07.1994 (Ex.P1). An amount of  ₹2 lakh was paid as earnest money, out of

which ₹1.5 lakh was paid through 5 cheques of ₹30,000/- each in the name of 5

co-owners and the remaining amount was paid in cash. The suit property was

already mortgaged with State Bank of India, Sector 8, Panchkula. Last date for

execu;on and registra;on of the sale deed was agreed to be 25.12.1994. Prior

to  the  said  target  date,  the  sellers  were  required  to  obtain  `No  Objec;on

Cer;ficate’ from the Estate Officer and also the income tax clearance cer;ficate

from the respec;ve departments. They were further required to take clearance

from the State Bank of India, Sector 8, Panchkula, aJer making payment of the

loan to  the bank.  Barsa� por;on of  the  suit  house was  in  possession of  a

tenant, so sellers had undertaken to hand over the vacant possession of the

whole house.  It  was required for them to get the tenanted por;on vacated

before the target date.  It  was agreed that  in  case,  sellers  failed to  get  the
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Barsa� por;on vacated from the tenant, then they will be en;tled to receive

total sale price of  ₹10 lakhs i.e. the sale price was to be reduced by  ₹2 lakh.

Plain;ff No.1 J.D Gupta i.e., purchaser was authorized by the sellers to sell the

house to any other person.  

3.2 Plain;ffs  pleaded  further  that  as  defendants  failed  to  get  the

Barsa� por;on vacated up to 25.12.1994, therefore, defendants are en;tled to

receive total sale price of ₹10 lakh, out of which ₹2 lakh had already been paid.

It was pleaded that plain;ff No.1 wanted to get the sale effected in favour of

plain;ff No.2, a private limited company, in which plain;ff No.1 is the Managing

Director. Plain;ffs pleaded further that plain;ff No.1 has always been ready

and willing to perform his part of contract. He insisted upon the defendants to

take  necessary  permissions  from  the  Estate  Officer  and  the  Income  Tax

Department to obtain the necessary cer;ficates but they did not take any step

in this direc;on for one or the other excuse. 

3.3 It was further pleaded that prior to the target date, plain;ff No.1

sent a telegram to the defendants on 23.12.1994 to be present in the Office of

Sub Registrar, UT, Chandigarh on 26.12.1994 for execu;on and registra;on of

the sale deed, since 24th and 25th of December were holidays being Saturday

and Sunday.  Unfortunately,  on account of death of Giani  Zail  Singh,  the Ex-

President  of  India,  26th and  27th of  December  were  declared  holidays  and

therefore,  plain;ff  No.1  informed  the  defendants  through  telegram  dated

26.12.1994 to  be  present  in  the  Office of  Sub Registrar,  UT Chandigarh  on

28.12.1994 for execu;on and registra;on of the sale deed. It was pleaded that

plain;ff No.1 was ready with the amount of sale price of ₹10 lakh in the shape

of  bank  draJs  as  well  as  the  sum  of  ₹1,55,000/-  for  stamp  papers  and

registra;on  charges.  Plain;ff  No.1  remained  present  on  28.12.1994  in  the

Office of Sub Registrar, UT Chandigarh along with bank draJ and cash amount

since morning ;ll evening and also got a:ested two affidavits in this regard so

as to mark his presence, but defendants failed to turn up. Plain;ffs also gave

details of the payment of  ₹10 lakhs, which were to be made by him to the

defendants. 
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3.4 It  was  alleged  that  defendants  failed  to  perform  their  part  of

contract and rather, they were trying to dispose of the suit property. Prior to

filing of the suit, plain;ff No.1 also sent a legal no;ce dated 20.02.1995 under

registered AD as well as UPC Post, but despite the same, defendants failed to

perform their part of contract. Plain;ffs also came to know about the death of

one of the co-owner Jokhi Ram, prior to serving the no;ce dated 20.02.1995. It

was pleaded that as plain;ffs did not know the name of all the legal heirs of

Jokhi Ram or the persons en;tled to inherit  him, so plain;ffs reserved their

right to implead them as a party. 

3.5 With all these averments, prayer was made for passing a decree of

specific performance on the basis of agreement to sell dated 24.07.1994 for the

sale of the suit property with direc;on to the defendants to execute and get

the sale  deed registered  in  favour  of  plain;ff No.2 or  in  the alterna;ve,  in

favour of plain;ff No.1.  

4. It  may  be  noted  here  itself  that  suit  was  filed  against  four

defendants/ co-owners of the suit property namely, Smt. Chawli Devi, Lakhpat

Rai, Smt. Kamlesh Rani and Ramesh Kumar as defendants N: 1 to 4 respec;vely.

Stand of defendants N: 1 to 3:

5.1 Defendant  No.1-Chawli  Devi,  defendant  No.2-Lakhpat  Rai  and

defendant  No.3-Kamlesh Rani  filed a joint  wri:en statement,  in  which they

alleged the agreement dated 24.07.1994 relied by the plain;ffs to be a forged

and fabricated document. According to them, defendants No.2 and 3 had taken

loan  amount  of  ₹2  lakh  from plain;ff No.1  and  that  their  signatures  were

obtained  by  the  plain;ff  on  blank  papers.  They  never  executed  any  sale

agreement. As per these defendants N: 2 & 3, their signatures taken on blank

papers have been converted into the alleged agreement to sell.  

5.2 It  was  further  alleged  that  signatures  of  defendant  N:  1  Smt.

Chawli Devi and that of defendant No.4 on the agreement are forged and that

they had never signed the same. 
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5.3 It was also submi:ed that suit house was already mortgaged with

State Bank of India, Panchkula and is s;ll under mortgage and so, there was no

ques;on of  entering  into  any agreement  to  sell  with  the plain;ffs,  without

geNng the same redeemed from the said bank. It was contended that since the

suit  property  was  never  intended to  be  sold,  so  there  was  no  ques;on  of

obtaining any Income Tax Clearance Cer;ficate or permission from the Estate

Officer, as alleged. Further, there was no ques;on of alleged willingness on the

part  of  the  plain;ffs  to  perform  their  part  of  contract,  as  there  was  no

agreement to sell. The receipt of the legal no;ce and the telegrams, as sent by

the plain;ffs,  is  not  disputed but  it  is  claimed that these did not have any

relevancy  and  that  the  no;ce  was  uncalled  for  and  as  such,  it  was  not

responded. Defendants submi:ed that in the absence of any agreement to sell

between the par;es, there was no ques;on of claiming specific performance of

the alleged agreement to sell the suit property or the possession thereof.  

With this stand, these defendants prayed for dismissal of the suit. 

Stand of defendants N: 4:

6. In a separate wri:en statement filed by defendant No.4-Ramesh

Kumar, he denied any privity of contract between him and the plain;ffs and

alleged the agreement dated 24.07.1994 to be a forged document, which was

never executed by him. As per this defendant, the document dated 24.07.1994

has been procured by the plain;ff on false allurements given to Lakhpat Rai. In

fact,  plain;ff-  J.D.  Gupta,  his  brother-in-law  Tarsem  Lal,  Kabul  Singh  and

Sumesh Gupta had business rela;ons with each other and they had procured

the documents by puNng force upon defendant No.2-Lakhpat Rai and that too

against the interest of the answering defendant i.e. Ramesh Kumar.  He also

pleaded that he, Chawli Devi and Jokhi Ram were never party to the agreement

to sell and as such, the same is false and fabricated having no legal force and

not binding upon them. He also denied having received any earnest money.  

         With this stand, this defendant also prayed for dismissal of the suit. 

Rejoinder by Plain�ffs:
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7. In replica;on to the wri:en statement of respondents No.1 to 3,

the plain;ffs reiterated their case and refuted the stand of the defendants. In

the separate replica;on to the wri:en statement of respondent No.4, plain;ffs

pleaded that Sumesh Gupta had no concern with the case and that they do not

know  any  such  person  named  Sumesh  Gupta  and  that  defendants  were

colluding with each other. Plain;ffs reiterated their case, refu;ng the stand of

defendant No.4.

Issues:

8.1 Following issues were framed by the trial Court : -

“1. Whether the plain;ff are en;tled for specific performance of the Agree-

ment of sale deed dated 24.07.1994 and possession of House No.1 Sec-

tor 28-A, Chandigarh? OPP

2. Whether  the  plain;ffs  are  en;tled  to  get  the  sale  deed  effected  in

favour of plain;ff No.2? OPP.

3. Whether the suit is not maintainable? OPD

4 Whether the proper court fee had been affixed on the plaint? OPD

5. Whether any cause of ac;on has been accrued to the plain;ffs against

the defendant No.4? OPD

6. Whether  there  is  any  privity  of  contract  between  the  plain;ffs  and

defendant No.4? OPD

7. Whether the document i.e.  agreement dated 27.04.1994 is  false and

fabricated document, if so, its effect? OPD

8. Whether the plain;ff has locus standi to file the present suit against the

defendant No. 4? OPD

9. Whether the plain;ff No.2 had made unnecessary par;es and suit is bad

on account of non judicial of necessary par;es? OPD

10. Relief.”

8.2 Plain;ffs closed their evidence on 21.11.2001. 
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8.3 During the pendency of the suit, defendant No.1- Smt. Chawli Devi

expired. An applica;on dated 08.02.2002 moved to bring on record her legal

representa;ves was allowed on 20.02.2002, whereby apart from her two sons

Lakhpat Rai and Ramesh, already party to the suit, two daughters, namely, Smt.

Urmila and Smt. Raj Dulari were impleaded as her LRs. 

8.4 These daughters Urmila & Raj Dulari, impleaded as LRs of Chawli

Devi also moved an applica;on seeking permission to lead evidence, but that

applica;on was declined on 26.11.2004. 

8.5 Evidence of the defendants was closed on 07.09.2005. 

8.6 AJer hearing both the sides, the suit was decreed by the trial court

on 04.11.2008. 

9. Against the judgment and decree of the trial court, only one of the

defendants, namely, Ramesh Kumar filed the appeal before the District Court.

Ld. Addi;onal District Judge, Chandigarh vide his judgment dated 20.04.2012,

dismissed his appeal. 

10. Against  this  dismissal,  two appeals  have been filed.   RSA-4958-

2012 has been filed by defendants No.2 & 3 Lakhpat Rai and his wife Kamlesh

Rani; whereas RSA-3117-2012 has been filed by Ramesh Kumar, who was the

only appellant before the First Appellate Court.

Conten�ons raised in RSA 3117-2012:

11.1 Assailing  the  judgments  of  the  Courts  below,  learned  Senior

Advocate  Sh.  Vijay  Jindal  for  the  appellant  in  RSA-3117-2012  has  drawn

a:en;on of this Court towards agreement to sell Ex.P-1 in the light of evidence

brought on record by both the par;es and contends that signature of Sh. Jokhi

Ram and that of Sh. Ramesh Kumar have been specifically denied by all the

defendants.  Even Lakhpat Rai and his wife Kamlesh have explained, as to how

their signatures were obtained by the plain;ff No.1 J.D. Gupta on blank papers

on the pretext of loan documents, as Lakhpat wanted to take loan from him.  
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11.2 It is  argued  that plain;ff as  well  as a:es;ng witnesses Tarsem

Singh and Kabul are property dealers, as has come in their statements.  In fact,

Tarsem is co-brother (wife’s sister’s  husband) of the plain;ff working in the

same  office;   and  that  all  three  of  them  under  conspiracy  to  deprive  the

defendants  of  their  valuable  property,  fabricated  the  agreement  to  sell  by

forging the signatures of Jokhi Ram and Ramesh thereon. 

11.3 It is pointed out that apart from two a:es;ng witnesses to the

agreement to sell  Ex.P-1 i.e.,  Tarsem Lal  and Kabul  Singh as PW-2,  another

person shown to be associated with the agreement is Sumesh Gupta, who is

referred as mediator of the deal in clause N: 12 of agreement to sell  but he is

neither signatory to the agreement nor examined by the plain;ffs.   Rather,

contradictory stand has been taken by the plain;ffs qua him.  In rejoinder to

the wri:en statement of defendant no.4, plain;ffs plead that Sumesh Gupta

has no concern with the case and that they (plain;ffs) even do not know any

such person.  However, in his statement as PW1, JD Gupta plain;ff says that

Sumesh had told him that the house in ques;on was for sale.  In the agreement

to sell Ex.P1, there is  specific reference that deal was struck through Sumesh

Gupta,  to  whom  both  the  par;es  had  agreed  to  pay  certain  commission.

Learned counsel points out  that it is defendants, who examined said Sumesh as

DW-7  and  who  demolished  the  case  of  the  plain;ffs  by  denying  any  deal

regarding sale of the house between plain;ffs and defendants.  

11.4 Learned Senior Advocate further points out that that scribe to the

agreement  to  sell  Ex.P-1  has  not  been  examined.  Even  the  name  of  the

scribe/typist,  who  typed  the  agreement  to  sell  is  neither  disclosed  in  the

agreement Ex.P1 nor any of the witnesses examined by the plain;ffs divulged

his  name. So,  much so,  the statements of PW1 plain;ff JD Gupta and PW2

Tarsem are contradictory, as to where the agreement Ex.P1 was typed, who got

it typed and when or where it was typed. 

11.5 Learned Senior Advocate then argued that signatures of Jokhi Ram

and Ramesh on the agreement to sell Ex.P-1 to be forged are duly proved on

record.   It  is  pointed  out  that  Ramesh,  Lakhpat  Rai  and  Urmila,  the  three
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children of Jokhi Ram, who have entered the witness box as DW3, DW4 & DW6

respec;vely have specifically  deposed that Jokhi Ram used to sign only in Landi

language and never signed in English.  It is pointed out that agreement to sell

Ex.P-1 bears the purported signatures of Jokhi Ram in English as  Gokhi Ram.

A:en;on is drawn towards the fact that even the purported signature of Jokhi

Ram in English are different - one on the said agreement to sell as Gokhi Ram

and the other on the account opening form Ex.P65 as Jokhi Ram, submi:ed in

the  Bank  on  9.8.1994.  Learned  counsel  contends  that  not  even  a  single

document has been produced by the plain;ffs to show that Jokhi Ram in his

en;re life ever signed any document in English. No witness has been examined

to  prove  that  in  their  presence,  Jokhi  Ram  ever  signed  in  English.  It  is

contended that in these circumstances, the observa;ons made by the courts

below to the effect that Jokhi Ram might have learnt English in the later stage

of his life, is based on just conjectures and assump;ons. 

11.6 Similarly, poin;ng out towards the tes;mony of DW3 Ramesh, it is

argued by Ld. Senior advocate that he (Ramesh) never signed the agreement to

sell Ex.P-1 and specifically denied his signatures thereon.  Even Lakhpat Rai in

his  tes;mony  deposed  that  Ramesh  had  not  signed  Ex.P1.  Learned  Senior

advocate then drewn a:en;on towards the tes;mony of the Handwri;ng and

Finger Print Expert Navdeep Gupta, who examined by the defendants as DW5

proved that he had examined the standard signature of Ramesh Gupta and

compared the same with the disputed signature on Ex.P1 and that the same

were not affixed by the same person. He proved his report in this regard with

the  help  of  photographic  enlargements.  S;ll  further,  it  is  pointed  out  that

plain;ffs had moved an applica;on to summon Shri K.N. Parshad, Handwri;ng

Expert, resident of H.No.819 sector 8, Chandigarh along with report regarding

the signatures of defendants and said witness was duly served but plain;ffs did

not dare to examine him, and so, adverse inference is to be drawn that he had

refused to supports the case of the plain;ffs.  

11.7 It is argued that even the thumb impression of Smt. Chawli Devi on

agreement to sell Ex.P1 are not proved, inasmuch as in the wri:en statement
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filed by the defendants No.1 to 3,  it has been  specifically pleaded that she had

never signed/thumb marked the agreement to sell.  Same stand was taken by

the defendant No.4- Ramesh Kumar.  However, apart from the statements of

PW-1 and  PW-2, no witness has been examined by the plain;ffs to prove the

thumb impression of Smt. Chawli Devi on the agreement to sell Ex.P-1. 

11.8  Learned senior counsel contends  that in these circumstances,  the

finding of the courts below to the effect that agreement to sell was proved to

have been executed by all the five co-owners, is absolutely not tenable.  

11.9 Learned senior counsel has then pointed out that Jokhi Ram had

already a bank account  N:  15655 in  Syndicate  Bank,  as  evident  from Ex.D1

proved by PW4.  In case, he had received any cheque of ₹30,000/- towards

earnest money as is contended by the plain;ffs, he would have deposited the

same in his own account.  However, the plain;ffs in collusion with Lakhpat Rai

and  his  wife  Kamlesh,  got  opened  two  joint  bank  accounts  on  9.8.1994.

Account N: 18272 was got opened in the joint names of Lakhpat Rai, Ramesh

and Smt. Chawli Devi, in which Lakhpat Rai became the proposer, as per Ex.P64.

Another account N: 18273  was opened in the joint names of Kamlesh Rani and

Jokhi  Ram,  in  which  also  Lakhpat  Rai  was  the  proposer,  as  per  Ex.P65.

A:en;on  is  drawn  towards  the  statement  of  PW4  Chandrashekhar,  Clerk,

Syndicate Bank, who proved Ex.P64 & Ex.P65 based on record brought by him

but concedes in his cross-examina;on that these forms were not filled in his

presence and that specimen signature cards were not signed in his presence. 

11.10 It is pointed out that all  the five cheques of ₹30,000/- each are

shown to have been deposited in these two accounts and there is absolutely no

evidence  that  Jokhi  Ram,  Ramesh  and Chawli  Devi  ever  withdrew the  said

amount, as  PW4 is unable to tell as to who had signed the withdrawal forms. It

is also contended that the stand of the plain;ffs to the effect that amount of

₹1,50,000/-  by  way  of  five  cheques  was  paid  on  24.7.1994  at  the  ;me  of

execu;on of agreement is also demolished by own statement of account Ex.P-

63 of the plain;ff, which would indicate that there was no sufficient amount in

the said  account on that day and that by way of a sundry entry, an amount of
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₹1,50,000/- was deposited in his account on 10.8.1994 and then, on the same

date, five cheques of ₹30,000/- each are shown to be debited from this account

on that day i.e. 10.8.1994.  

11.11 It is also contended that photographs as well as signatures of Jokhi

Ram and Ramesh on the account opening forms are forged, as their  purported

photographs appearing on these account opening are of some fake person, as

has been proved by the witnesses examined by the defendants, including the

neighbours.

11.12 Learned Senior Advocate contends that though these appeals are

against the concurrent findings of the Courts below and while hearing regular

second appeal,  the High Court  has  limited scope to intervene but  the High

Court  can  certainly  intervene,  when  there  is  complete  misreading  of  the

evidence on record by the Courts below.  It is further argued that when plea of

fraud is taken by the defendants, the burden of proof pales into significance

and rather,  it  becomes impera;ve for  the plain;ffs to  prove the document

beyond any shadow of doubt.  It is argued that the defendants by producing

sufficient evidence have proved that the agreement Ex.P-1 i.e. agreement to

sell  is  a  forged  document  and  that  the  plain;ffs  have  failed  to  prove  due

execu;on and the validity thereof.

Conten�ons raised in RSA 4958-2012:

12.1 Supplemen;ng the afore said conten;ons, Sh. Amit Jain, learned

Senior Advocate appearing for appellants Lakhpat Rai and Kamlesh contends

that though these appellants did not deny their signatures on Ex.P-1 but it is

tes;fied by DW4 Lakhpat Rai that their signatures were taken by way of fraud

on blank papers  on  the  pretext  of  gran;ng  them loan  and they had never

intended to sell the suit property.  However, he refutes the conten;on of Shri

Vijay Jindal, Senior Advocate to the effect that these defendants were colluding

with the plain;ffs.

12.2 It is also argued that there is a default clause in the agreement to

sell to pay double the earnest money, with no specific clause that in the event
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of breach,  the aggrieved party will  be  en;tled to specific performance,  and

therefore, the suit for specific performance is not maintainable.

Conten�ons for respondent Urmila:

13.1 Sh. S.K. Garg Narwana, Senior advocate appearing for respondent-

Urmila (daughter of Jokhi Ram) and one of the LRs of Smt. Chawli  Devi has

supported all the conten;ons as have been raised by Ld. Senior advocate Shri

Vijay Jindal in RSA 3117-2012. In addi;on to the same, he contends that Jokhi

Ram,  had  expired  prior  to  filing  of  the  suit,  so  it  was  impera;ve  for  the

plain;ffs to implead all the legal heirs of Jokhi Ram as defendants, in case said

Jokhi  Ram had executed the alleged agreement  to  sell,  as  to represent  his

estate.  Jokhi  Ram leJ behind  five legal  heirs.  Though,  two sons  Ramesh &

Lakhpat Rai and widow Smt. Chawli Devi of Jokhi Ram were impleaded in their

individual capacity as defendants but the two daughters Urmila and Raj Dulari

were also impleaded as party to the suit and therefore, suit is bad for non-

joinder of necessary par;es.  

13.2 It is contended that even aJer being impleaded as LRs of Chawli

Devi,  when  they  moved  an  applica;on  for  producing  the  evidence,  their

applica;on was declined.

14. With all the afore-said submissions, prayer is made by Ld. Senior

counsels for the appellants as well as counsel for respondent-Urmila to allow

these appeals and to  set aside the impugned judgment and decrees passed by

the Courts below.

Conten�ons for contes�ng respondents - plain�ffs:

15.1 Replying to the conten;ons raised on behalf the appellants and

respondent Urmila,  it  is  contended by Shri  Sumeet Mahajan,  learned senior

counsel for the contes;ng respondents- plain;ffs that agreement to sell dated

24.07.1994 is  duly  proved not  only  by  the tes;mony of  plain;ff-  PW-1 J.D.

Gupta but further supported by statement of another a:es;ng witness namely

PW-2 Tarsem Lal.  Learned counsel contends that both these witnesses have
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tes;fied that all the five sellers i.e. defendants alongwith Jokhi Ram had come

to his office on 24.07.1994 and had appended their signature thereon. These

witnesses  have  also  deposed  about  payment  of  the  earnest  money  of

₹2,00,000/-,  out  of  which  ₹1,50,000/-  was  paid  by  way  of  5  cheques  of

₹30,000/- each to the five sellers and ₹50,000/- paid in cash. 

15.2 Learned counsel has further drawn a:en;on towards the wri:en

statement of defendants no.1 to 3, in which they have not disputed the signa-

ture of Lakhpat Rai and Kamlesh Rani. DW-4 Lakhpat Rai has also admi:ed his

signature on the agreement to sell. He has also not disputed about the receipt

of the legal  no;ce. Learned counsel also draws a:en;on towards the state-

ment of PW-3 Vinod Kumar, an official of the State Bank of Pa;ala so as to con-

tend that receipt of earnest money by the defendants and their ac;ve par;ci-

pa;on in the execu;on of the agreement is duly proved. Besides, PW-4 Chan-

der Shekhar proves that the five cheques were deposited in two different joint

accounts of the five vendors and that all of these were got encashed. It is also

the conten;on of the counsel that terms and condi;ons of the agreement to

sell dated 24.07.1994 indicate that it could not have been executed without the

ac;ve par;cipa;on of all the sellers i.e. defendants and Jokhi Ram.

15.3 Ld. Senior advocate points out that DW5 Navdeep Gupta, docu-

ment expert examined by the defendants, compared the disputed signature of

Ramesh only with the standard signatures affixed by him on the documents,

which came in existence aJer filing of the suit and that those signatures were

made by changing the style and as such, no reliance can be placed on the tes;-

mony of such an expert.

15.4 Learned senior counsel for the respondents- plain;ffs further ar-

gues that readiness and willingness on the part of the plain;ff for execu;on of

the sale deed in terms of the agreement to sell dated 24.07.1994 is well proved

on record. He has drawn a:en;on towards the tes;mony of PW-1 plain;ff J.D.

Gupta in this regard. Apart from the le:er dated 02.12.1994 Ex.P-2, which was

sent by the plain;ff to the defendants along with the requisite form to obtain
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the NOC, further a:en;on is drawn towards the telegram sent on 23.12.1994

and then on 26.12.1994 so as to contend that prior in;ma;on was sent to the

defendants for execu;on of the sale deed. Learned counsel further argues that

affidavits  Ex.P-42 and P-43 further  proves the presence of the plain;ff- J.D.

Gupta in the office of Sub-Registrar on 28.12.1994 along with the balance sale

considera;on, whereas defendants failed to turn up and that in view of these

circumstances, readiness and willingness, prior to and aJer the execu;on of

agreement on the part of the plain;ff is well proved on record.

15.5 It is contended further that appellant/ defendant N: 4 Ramesh is

estopped  to  take  the  plea  of  his  forged  signature  as  he  got  encashed  the

cheque of ₹30,000/- issued in his name towards payment of earnest money. 

15.6 It is also contended that onus to prove that plain;ff had obtained

signature of defendant Lakhpat Rai and his wife Kamlesh on blank papers on

the pretext of advancing loan of ₹2,00,000/- was en;rely upon them and that

except for the oral statement made by Lakhpat Rai in this regard, no other evi-

dence has been led so as to discharge this onus.

15.7 A:en;on is also drawn towards statement of DW6 Urmila, who

admi:ed that she knew that her brothers were selling the suit property. It is ar-

gued that all the defendants are now colluding with each other, by alleging col-

lusion between plain;ffs & Lakhpat Rai, which is established from the fact that

all of them are living together in same house with no dispute amongst them as

admi:ed by DW6 Urmila.

15.8 With all the aforesaid conten;ons, Ld. Senior advocate urges that

there is no scope to interfere in the concurrent findings of facts as recorded by

the courts below and so both the appeals deserve dismissal.

16. Conten;ons  raised  by  Ld.  Senior  Advocates  for  both  the sides

have been considered and with their  able assistance,  trial  court  record has

been perused. Various authori;es cited from both the sides shall be referred

during discussion.
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17. AJer hearing submissions of both the sides at length, this court

finds that following points need considera;on: - 

� Whether the onus to prove the agreement to sell, par;cularly to prove

allega;on of fraud/fabrica;on was rightly placed?

� Whether  agreement  to  sell  dated  24.07.1994  Ex.P1  was  executed

between  plain;ff  No.1  and  the  four  defendants  along  with  Sh.  Jokhi

Ram?

� Whether defendant No.2 - Lakhpat Rai and his wife Kamlesh Rani had

taken  loan  of  ₹2  lakh  from  the  plain;ff  and  their  signatures  were

obtained on blank papers on the pretext of gran;ng loan and the same

have been converted into alleged agreement to sell? 

� Whether the document dated 24.07.1994 i.e. the alleged agreement to

sell does not bear the signature/thumb impressions of Jokhi Ram, Smt.

Chawli Devi and Ramesh Kumar?

� What is the scope of interference in the Regular Second Appeal by this

Court  in  the  concurrent  findings  of  facts  as  recorded  by  the  Courts

below?

� One of the executants of the alleged agreement to sell,  namely, Jokhi

Ram, having already expired prior to filing of the suit, whether the suit is

bad for non-joinder of necessary par;es, as his legal heirs, who include

his two daughters Urmila and Raj Dulari, were not impleaded as party to

the  suit;  whereas  widow  &  two  sons  i.e.,  Chawli  Devi,  Ramesh  and

Lakhpat Rai were impleaded in their individual capacity being co-owners

and not as legal heirs of Jokhi Ram?  

� If it is found that suit is bad for non-joinder of all the legal heirs of Jokhi

Ram; or if it is found that Chawli Devi or Ramesh Kumar or Jokhi Ram had

not  signed  the  alleged  agreement  to  sell,  whether  suit  for  specific

performance can be decreed partly against the other defendants Lakhpat

Rai  and his wife Kamlesh Rani,  who have not denied their  signatures,
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considering the fact that suit property is situated in Chandigarh, where

the fragmenta;on of the residen;al property is not permissible under

law?

� Whether Appeal filed by Lakhpat Rai and Kamlesh Rani before this Court,

who had not approached the First Appellate Court against the judgment

of the trial Court, is maintainable before this Court, in the light of the

provisions of Order 41 Rule 33 CPC?

� Whether plain;ff No.1, the executant of the alleged agreement to sell,

has always been ready and willing and is s;ll ready and willing to perform

his part of contract? 

� As there is  a  default  clause in  the agreement  to  sell  and there is  no

specific  clause  in  the  agreement  that  in  the  event  of  breach,  the

aggrieved party will be en;tled to specific performance, whether in these

circumstances, the suit for specific performance is maintainable or not? 

� Whether in all the aforesaid facts and circumstances, equity is in favour

of the plain;ffs to grant decree for specific performance and whether the

discre;on in this regard has been rightly exercised by the Courts below?

 Analysis by this court:

Onus to prove a document propounded by plain�ff and alleged to be forged

by the defendant:

18. Since en;re case of the plain;ffs revolve on the validity and due

execu;on of agreement to sell Ex.P1, which the defendants have alleged to be

a forged document, so one of the ques;on to be answered is as to whether it is

the plain;ff, who is required to prove the validity and due execu;on of agree-

ment to sell Ex.P-1, or whether it is for the defendants to prove the said docu-

ment to be forged and fabricated. 

19. It has been held by Hon’ble Supreme Court that though the onus

is upon the party who propounds the document, who will have to prove it but it

is not the firm proposi;on of law that in case fraud is alleged, then it is for the
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party alleging fraud, who has to prove it. In  “Thiruvengadam Pillai v. Nava-

neethammal and anr.” 2008 (2) RCR (Civil) 262, explaining the said proposi;on,

Hon’ble Supreme Court held as under:

“The trial court had analyzed the evidence properly and had dismissed the suit

by giving cogent reasons. The first appellate court reversed it by wrongly plac-

ing onus on the defendants. Its observa;on that when the execu;on of an un-

registered document put forth by the plain;ff was denied by the defendants, it

was for the defendants to establish that the document was forged or con-

cocted, is not sound proposi;on. The first appellate court proceeded on the

basis that it is for the party, who asserts something to prove that thing; and as

the defendants  alleged that  the agreement was forged,  it  was for  them to

prove it. But the first appellate court lost sight of the fact that the party who

propounds the document will have to prove it. In this case, plain;ffs came to

court alleging that the first defendant had executed an agreement of sale in

favour. The first defendant having denied it, the burden was on the plain;ff to

prove that the first defendant had executed the agreement and not on the first

defendant to prove the nega;ve. The issues also placed the burden on the

plain;ff to prove the document to be true. No doubt, the plain;ff a:empted to

discharge his burden by examining himself as also scribe and one of the a:est-

ing witnesses. But the various circumstances enumerated by the trial court and

High Court referred to earlier,  when taken together,  rightly  create a doubt

about the genuineness of the agreement and dislodge the effect of the evi-

dence of PW 1 to 3. We are therefore of the view that the decision of the High

Court, reversing the decision of the first appellate court, does not call for inter-

ference.”

20.1 Similarly, in  “Rangmal v. Kuppuswani” (2011) 12 SCC 220, gen-

uineness of a document was in ques;on. Hon’ble Supreme Court held that bur-

den lied on the person, who relies on a validity of document to prove its gen-

uineness. However, onus will  shiJ upon the opposite party to dislodge such

proof and establish the document is sham or bogus only when its validity and

genuineness is proved. Hon’ble Supreme Court referred to Sec;on 101 of the

Evidence Act, which read as under:

“101. Burden of proof. - Whoever desires any court to give judgment as to any
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legal right or liability dependent on the existence of facts which he asserts,

must prove that those facts exist. 

When a person is bound to prove the existence of any fact it is said

that the burden of proof lies on that person.”

20.2 Hon’ble Supreme Court then held as under:

“21………..Thus, the Evidence Act has clearly laid down that the burden of prov-

ing fact always lies upon the person who asserts it.  Un;l such burden is dis-

charged, the other party is not required to be called upon to prove his case.

The court has to examine as to whether the person upon whom the burden

lies has been able to discharge his burden. Un;l he arrives at such conclusion,

he cannot proceed on the basis of weakness of the other party.

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

29.  It may be relevant at this stage to cite the ra;o of the decision of this

Court delivered in the ma:er of Subhra Mukherjee vs. Bharat Coaking Coal

Ltd (AIR 2000 SC 1203), whether the document in ques;on was genuine or

sham or bogus, the party who alleged it to be bogus had to prove nothing un;l

the party relying upon the document established its genuineness………

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

31. Applica;on of Sec;on 101 of the Evidence Act, 1872 thus came up for dis-

cussion in Subhra Mukherjee case and while discussing the law on the burden

of proof in the context of dealing with the allega;on of sham and bogus trans-

ac;on, it was held that party which makes allega;on must prove it. But the

court was further pleased to hold wherein the ques;on before the court was

"whether the transac;on in ques;on was a bona fide and genuine one" so that

the party/plain;ff relying on the transac;on had to first of all prove its gen-

uineness and only thereaJer would the defendant be required to discharge

the burden in order to dislodge such proof and establish that the transac;on

was sham and fic;;ous. This ra;o can aptly be relied upon in this ma:er as in

this par;cular case, it is the plain;ff/respondent No.1-Kuppuswami who relied

upon the alleged sale deed dated 24.2.1951 and included the subject-ma:er of

the property which formed part of the sale deed and claimed par;;on. This

sale deed was denied by the defendant/appellant on the ground that it was

bogus and a sham transac;on which was executed admi:edly in 1951 when

she was a minor.”
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21. Thus, as per legal posi;on enunciated above,  when the ques;on

before the court is as to "whether the transac�on in ques�on was a bona fide

and genuine one", it is for the party/plain;ff relying on the transac;on, who has

to first of all prove its genuineness and only thereaJer would the defendant be

required to discharge the burden in order to dislodge such proof and establish

that the transac;on was sham and fic;;ous.

22. It is in the light of above legal posi;on that evidence brought on

record is required to be analysed.

Whether execu�on of agreement to sell is proved:

23. Perusal of the agreement to sell  (Ex.P1) would reveal that it  is

four pages document typed on a stamp paper.  The stamp paper is purported

to have been purchased on 19.07.1994 in the name of Jokhi Ram.  Except for

the date appearing on the first page as  24.07.1994, all other contents in the

document are typed.  All the four pages are purported to be signed by Kamlesh,

Ramesh Kumar, Jokhi Ram and Lakhpat Rai and thumb marked by one person,

whose name is not men;oned.   Two a:es;ng witnesses to the said agreement

are Tarsem Lal and Kabul Singh.  There is no men;on in the agreement as to

who had typed this agreement. As per clause No.12 of the agreement, the bar-

gain was struck through Sumesh Gupta, to whom both the par;es had agreed

to pay 1% as commission, though he is not signatory to agreement Ex.P1.   On

the reverse of page No.1 and  2 of the agreement, there is typed receipt of ₹2

lakh, as per which five cheques of  ₹ 30,000/- each, all dated 19.07.1994, are

purported to have been issued in the name of five vendors and ₹50,000/- is

shown to have been paid in cash i.e. ₹10,000/- each to the five vendors. 

24.1 In order to prove the afore-said agreement Ex.P1, plain;ff – J.D.

Gupta  appeared as  PW1 and also examined one  of  the a:es;ng witnesses

Tarsem Lal as PW2.  Both of them in their respec;ve tes;monies proved due

execu;on of the said agreement Ex.P1 as well as receipt Ex.PW2/A by the five

vendors.  However, cross examina;on of these witnesses is quite material. 

24.2 In his cross-examina;on, PW1 J.D. Gupta, discloses that Tarsem
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Lal, i.e. one of the a:es;ng witness is his co-brother i.e. wife’s sister’s husband.

As per him, 15 days prior to the execu;on of the agreement to sell, Sumesh

Gupta had told him that house in ques;on was for sale and then Kabul had

shown house to him.  As per him, 2-3 days prior to the execu;on of the agree-

ment, nego;a;ons for sale had been struck with defendant No.2 Lakhpat Rai at

his office in Sector 22.  Agreement to sell was got typed aJer se:lement of

terms and condi;ons 2-3 days before it was signed. The draJ of the said agree-

ment was taken by defendant No.2 in order to show it to the other defendants,

again said, to show to defendant No.4.    One day prior to the agreement to sell,

defendant No.2 Lakhpat Rai came to his office and confirmed about  the bar-

gain.  PW1 discloses further that he is not aware, as to from where the agree-

ment  to  sell  was  typed.   As  per  him,  stamp  papers  were  purchased  on

19.07.1994.  He pleaded ignorance that Jokhi Ram used to sign only in  Landi

language.  He denied the sugges;on that he in collusion with Lakhpat Rai had

fabricated the agreement to sell by forging the signatures of Ramesh and Jokhi

Ram.  

24.3 PW2 Tarsem Lal in his cross-examina;on not only admi:ed his re-

la;onship with plain;ff J.D. Gupta but further admits that he was also working

in the same office of property dealing of Mr. J.D. Gupta.  He further says during

cross-examina;on that on 24.07.1994, ini;ally defendant No.2 – Lakhpat Rai

came to the Office of plain;ff, followed by the other defendants, then nego;a-

;ons took place so as to sell the house in his presence and that Kabul Singh was

appearing on behalf of the defendants and that said Kabul Singh was also the

property dealer.  He too pleaded ignorance  as to where the agreement to sell

was got typed.  However, he is specific that when all the defendants came and

the nego;a;ons were completed, then the agreement to sell was typed within

half an hour/ an hour.  He pleaded ignorance as to who went to get the agree-

ment to sell typed and from where it was typed but  he is specific that it was

not typed in the Office of the plain;ff.  

25. It is apparent from the tes;monies of both the above witnesses

that they are quite contradictory on numerous material points.   As per PW1-
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plain;ff J.D. Gupta, terms and condi;ons of the agreement to sell were se:led

only between him and Lakhpat Rai and not with the other defendants and that

these terms were se:led 2-3 days prior to the execu;on of the agreement.  It

has also emerged in his tes;mony that the agreement to sell was typed at least

2-3 days prior to its due execu;on and then the draJ agreement was taken by

Lakhpat Rai to show it to other  defendants / defendant- Ramesh.  Contrary to

the same, Tarsem Lal says that agreement to sell was typed within half an hour/

an hour from the se:lement of the terms and condi;ons on 24.07.1994 with all

the defendants.  Most importantly none  of these witnesses have been able to

disclose the name of typist, who typed the said agreement.  None of them are

able to tell as to where it was typed and who got it typed.  No such typist has

either been named or examined in the evidence by the plain;ffs.  

26. Further the stamp paper for agreement is purported to have been

purchased on 19.07.1994 in the name of Jokhi Ram.  It is not explained that in

case, the terms and condi;ons were se:led  2-3 days prior to the execu;on of

the agreement as per PW1, or on 24.07.1994  i.e. on the date of agreement as

per PW2, why the stamp paper was purchased on 19.07.1994,  in the name of

Jokhi Ram.  Stamp Vendor has not been examined to prove as to whether Jokhi

Ram had put his signatures in his relevant register.  

27. The only other person associated with the agreement to sell  is

stated to be Sumesh Gupta as duly referred in the agreement to sell  Ex.P1,

through whom the bargain was struck and both the par;es had agreed to pay

commission to him.   However, said Sumesh Gupta has not been examined  by

the plain;ffs.  Rather, contradictory stand has been taken by plain;ffs even in

this regard,  in as much as in replica;on to the wri:en statement of defendant

No.4, plain;ffs denied  any concern with said Sumesh Gupta to the extent that

plain;ff No.1 even does not know any person by the name of Sumesh Gupta.

However, this is contrary to the statement of PW1, when he says that Sumesh

Gupta had told him about the suit property to be available for sale.  This is also

contrary to the terms of Ex.P1, wherein there is specific men;on about Sumesh

Gupta to be the mediator of the bargain.
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28. Proceeding further, it is wrongly contended by learned counsel for

the respondents- plain;ffs that thumb impressions of Smt. Chawli Devi on the

agreement to sell Ex.P1 have not been disputed.  The wri:en statement of de-

fendants No.1 to 3 clearly indicate they have denied the thumb impression/ sig-

natures not only of Chawli Devi but also of Ramesh and Jokhi Ram.  Though

PW1 and PW2 proved the agreement to have been executed even by Smt.

Chawli Devi but no suppor;ng evidence has been produced to show that the

thumb impression appearing on all the pages of agreement to sell Ex.P1 are

that of Chawli Devi.  

29.1 Apart  from  above,  three  children  of  Jokhi  Ram  namely,  DW3

Ramesh,  DW4 Lakhpat Rai and DW6 Urmila have specifically tes;fied that Jokhi

Ram never signed in English and that except the Landi language, said Jokhi Ram

never signed in any other language.  There is no rebu:al to this evidence.  PW1

J.D. Gupta in his cross-examina;on has  pleaded ignorance that except  Landi,

Jokhi Ram did not use to sign in any other language.  

29.2 However, the purported signature of Jokhi Ram on agreement to

sell  Ex.P1 appear in English and that too, as Gokhi Ram and not Jokhi Ram.  This

is even contrary to the account opening form Ex.P64, wherein Jokhi Ram is pur-

ported to have signed in English as Jokhi Ram. Even on appraisal by the naked

eye, the two signatures of Jokhi Ram on Ex.P1 & Ex.P64 are different.  Plain;ffs

have not examined even a single witness, who ever saw Jokhi Ram signing in

English or any other language other than Landi.  Said Jokhi Ram expired in 1994

but no document whatsoever is produced by the plain;ffs to show that said

Jokhi Ram ever signed in any language other than Landi.

29.3 Defendants  have  proved  on  record  the  sale  deed  dated

19.09.1979, copy of which is Ex.D11, whereby the defendants along with Jokhi

Ram had purchased the suit property.  In the said sale deed, the signatures/

thumb impressions of all the vendees are quite evident.  The said sale deed re-

veals that Jokhi Ram signed the same in Landi language.  Signature of Jokhi Ram

also appears in his bank account, copy of which is Ex.D1  in  Landi language,
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though PW4 has stated that the said signature is in Urdu.  The bare perusal of

Ex.D1 and Ex.D11  would reveal that they are signed by the same person.  

29.4 Thus,  plain;ffs have u:erly failed to prove that Jokhi Ram ever

signed in a language other than Landi.  In these facts and circumstances, it is es-

tablished beyond doubt that Ex.P1 i.e. agreement to sell is not signed by de-

ceased - Jokhi Ram.  

30. Proceeding further, DW3 Ramesh has  specifically tes;fied that he

did not sign the agreement to sell Ex.P1.   He denied his signature on the said

document.  In order to support this conten;on, defendants have even exam-

ined DW5 Navdeep Gupta, Document Expert, who compared the standard sig-

nature of Ramesh Gupta taken from various  documents, e.g., wri:en state-

ment,   vakalatnama  etc.,  sale  deed  Ex.D11,  with  the  disputed signature  of

Ramesh appearing on Ex.P1 & Ex.PW2/A and then gave his report Ex.D14 to the

effect that disputed signatures are not of the same person, who affixed the

standard signatures.

31. The  conten;on  of  learned  counsel  for  the  contes;ng  respon-

dents- plain;ffs that said document expert compared the disputed signature of

Ramesh Gupta only with the standard signatures taken from the documents ex-

ecuted during pendency of the suit, is without any merit,  because his standard

signatures appearing on Ex.D11 i.e. sale deed of 1979 has also been compared

with  the disputed signatures  by  DW5 Shri  Navdeep Gupta and it  has  been

clearly opined by him that these don’t match. 

32. There is no rebu:al on the part of the plain;ffs so as to rebut the

report  of  document  expert  i.e.  PW4 Navdeep Gupta.    As  has  been rightly

pointed out by learned counsel for the appellants that at one point of ;me,

plain;ffs had summoned one K.N.Parshad, Handwri;ng Expert to prove his re-

port regarding the signatures of the defendants, which indicates that plain;ffs

had got examined the disputed signatures of Jokhi Ram and Ramesh.  Said K.N.

Parshad was even served on the summons sent to him. However, said witness

has not been examined by the plain;ff  for the reasons best known to him and
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that the only inference which can be drawn against the plain;ffs is that had the

said witness i.e. K.N. Parshad been examined by the plain;ffs, he would not

have supported their case.  

Opinion evidence of expert, when to be discarded:

33.1 Learned counsel for the plain;ffs contends that since the a:es;ng

witness had iden;fied the signature of the vendors on the agreement to sell

Ex.P1, the statement of handwri;ng expert lost its significance and thus, bur-

den placed upon the plain;ffs was duly discharged. It is contended that the al-

lega;on of fraud was required to be proved by the defendants.  Reliance is

placed upon “Ra=an Singh & anr. v. Nirmal Gill and Others (2021) 15 SCC 300.

33.2 By drawing a:en;on towards “Karam Chand v. Ombir” 2016 (2)

Law Herald 1501, it is contended by Ld. counsel for the respondents- plain;ffs

that defendant Ramesh was habitual of signing differently on different docu-

ments as is apparent from the various documents proved on file and therefore,

he cannot be relied. 

34. This Court is not convinced with this conten;on. It is no;ced from

the various documents as proved on record that said Ramesh Kumar used to

sign in two manners - either as ‘R. Kumar’ or as ‘Ramesh Kumar’. His admi:ed

signatures are available on the record in the form of his signature on wri:en

statement, power of a:orney etc. No doubt that these signatures of the defen-

dant Ramesh Kumar are post-li;ga;on. However, it has not been disputed that

signature of Ramesh Kumar on the sale deed of 1979 Ex.D-11 are of period

much prior to, when the li;ga;on started or even the agreement to sell Ex.P1

was executed. As per the report of the document expert, the alleged signature

of defendant Ramesh Kumar on the agreement to sell Ex.P-1 and the receipt

Ex.-PW2/A do not tally even with those signatures as appearing on Ex.D-11. In

these circumstances, the conten;on of counsel for the plain;ffs that statement

of Ramesh, denying his signature on Ex.P1 as not reliable, is not tenable.

35.1 It is further important to no;ce that in order to prove passing of

the earnest money to the five vendors, plain;ffs have examined PW4 Chander
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Shekhar,  a Clerk in the Syndicate Bank so as to prove that the five cheques of

₹30,000/- were got encashed  by the five vendors.  In this regard also, the case

of the plain;ffs is not believable.  

35.2 First of all, it is not explained by learned counsel for the plain;ffs

that in case, terms and condi;ons of the agreement to sell were se:led just 2-3

days  prior  to  the  execu;on  of  the  agreement  as  stated  by  PW1;  or  on

24.07.1994 itself i.e. the date of the  execu;on of the agreement as stated by

PW2, how the date of 19.07.1994 was inserted in the cheques of ₹30,000/-

each, as is clearly men;oned in the receipt Ex.PW2/A.  In case, the terms and

condi;ons were se:led on 24.07.1994, obviously the sale price was the most

important part of the sale bargain and only then the par;es could have come to

know  about  the  sale  considera;on  and  then  only,  the  amount  of  earnest

money could have been men;oned in the cheques.   

35.3 Moreover, the tes;mony of PW4, the own witness examined by

the  plain;ffs  would  clearly  indicate  that  Jokhi  Ram  was  already  having  an

account N: 15655 opened in 1991 in Syndicate Bank, as evident from Ex.D1.   In

case cheque of earnest money of ₹30,000/- had been handed over to said Jokhi

Ram on 24.7.1994, as is the case of the plain;ffs, obviously Jokhi Ram would

have deposited that cheque in his already exis;ng personal account.  However,

the evidence on record would indicate that on 9.8.1994, two joint accounts

were opened in the Syndicate Bank.  As per Account opening forms Ex.P64 &

Ex.P65, one account i.e. Account No.18272 was opened in the joint names of

Lakhpat Rai,  Jokhi Ram  and Smt. Chawli Devi with Lakhpat Rai as proposer;

whereas, account No.18273 was opened in the joint names of Smt. Kamlesh

Rani and Jokhi Ram, in which the proposer is again Lakhpat Rai.  It is only aJer

the opening of these accounts on 09.08.1994 that five cheques of ₹30,000/-

each  are shown to have been credited in these two accounts as is evident from

Bank statement of plain;ff Ex.P63 on 10.08.1994.  

35.4 S;ll further, the photographs of Jokhi Ram and Ramesh appearing

on the account opening  forms Ex.P64 and Ex.P65 do not pertain to  them, as is
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proved by the tes;monies of DW3, DW4 and DW6 and even of neighbours i.e.,

DW1  &  DW2.   Tes;mony  of  DW5  Navdeep  Gupta  also  proves  that  the

purported  signatures   of  Ramesh  on  the  account  opening  form Ex.P64  are

forged.    It has already been no;ced that purported signature of Jokhi  Ram on

Ex.P65 are  in  English as  Jokhi  Ram,  whereas  in  the agreement  Ex.P1,  he is

purported to have signed as Gokhi Ram.  It has already been proved that Jokhi

Ram never signed in English. 

35.5 All  the aforesaid circumstances clearly  indicate that Lakhpat Rai

was colluding with the plain;ffs.  Ini;ally, he procured the draJ agreement to

sell  from the plain;ffs   and appears  to  have struck  the bargain  to  sell  the

property without knowledge of the other vendors.  ThereaJer, he and his wife,

in collusion with plain;ffs got opened two joint accounts, in the name of all the

five vendors.  In one of the account, Lakhpat Rai became one of the account

holder; whereas, in the other,  Kamlesh w/o Lakhpat Rai became one of the

account  holder.  In  normal  course,  if  joint  accounts  are  to  be  opened  by

husband and wife, they will open one such joint account and will not become

joint account holders in two separate accounts.

35.6 Above circumstances also compel this court to assume that aJer

opening of the two joint accounts, amount of all  the five cheques has been

drawn only by said Lakhpat Rai and his wife Kamlesh, otherwise there was no

necessity to introduce name of Lakhpat Rai in one account and that of Kamlesh

Rani in other account.  PW4 Chander Shekhar,  the Clerk of Syndicate Bank has

clearly admi:ed  that he was not present, when these account opening forms

were  submi:ed  in  the  Bank.   He  is  not  aware  as  to  who  had  signed  the

specimen  signature  part.   He  is  not  aware  as  to  who  had  submi:ed  the

withdrawal forms, in order to withdraw the amounts of the cheques.

35.7 In the face of aforesaid evidence, it is held that plain;ffs have even

failed to prove the passing of earnest money to all the vendors as was alleged

by them.

36. By placing reliance upon “Shashi Kumar Banarjee v. Subosh Ku-
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mar Banarjee” AIR 1964 SC 529, judgment of three judges bench of Hon’ble

Supreme Court, it is argued by Ld. Counsel for the plain;ffs-contes;ng respon-

dents that mere opinion of the expert cannot override the posi;ve evidence of

the  a:es;ng  witnesses  so  as  to  prove  the  agreement  Ex.P1.  For  the  same

preposi;on, further reliance is placed on “Chennadi Jalpathi Reddi v. Baddam

Pratapa Reddy and anr.” (2019) 14 SCC 220

37. There can be no dispute to the legal  posi;on  that evidence of

handwri;ng expert, being an opinion evidence, can rarely be given precedence

over the substan;ve evidence such as tes;mony of a:es;ng witnesses. But this

proposi;on of law is applicable, when the a:es;ng witnesses to the document

in ques;on are reliable. When a:es;ng witness(s) is/are not reliable and docu-

ment is alleged to contain forged signature of executant, the unrebu:ed opin-

ion of document expert assumes significance and can certainly not be ignored. 

38. In  Shashi  Kumar  Banarjee  v.  Subosh  Kumar  Banarjee’s case

(supra), valid execu;on of a WILL was in dispute. Hon’ble Supreme Court found

that the two a:es;ng witnesses were quite reliable, with no reason to disbe-

lieve them.  No suspicious circumstances were found to exist surrounding the

Will. It was in these circumstances that it was held that mere opinion of the ex-

pert cannot override the posi;ve evidence of the a:es;ng witnesses

39. Similarly, in “Chennadi Jalpathi Reddi v. Baddam Pratapa Reddy

(supra), a:es;ng witnesses to the document were found to be reliable, with no

reason to disbelieve them but the High Court had rejected their statements and

gave preference to opinion evidence. It was in these facts and circumstances

that Hon’ble Supreme Court observed as under:

“8.In any case, to sa;sfy our conscience, we have gone through the evidence

of PWs 1, 2, and 3. As rightly observed by the Trial Court, there is no reason to

disbelieve these witnesses, whose evidence is consistent, cogent, and reliable.

Though they were subjected to lengthy cross examina;on, nothing noteworthy

has been brought out from their deposi;on to discard their evidence. Thus, the

evidence of PWs 1, 2, and 3 fully supports the case of the plain;ff and in our

considered opinion, the High Court was not jus;fied in rejec;ng their evidence.
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9. As men;oned supra, the High Court mainly relied upon the opinion evidence

of DW  2, the handwri;ng expert,  who opined that the signature of the first  

defendant on the agreement of sale Ext. A  1 did not tally with his admi:ed  

signatures.

10. By now, it is well se:led that the Court must be cau;ous while evalua;ng

expert  evidence,  which  is  a  weak  type  of  evidence  and  not  substan;ve  in

nature.  It  is  also  se:led  that  it  may  not  be  safe  to  solely  rely  upon  such

evidence, and the Court may seek independent and reliable corrobora;on in

the facts of a given case. Generally, mere expert evidence as to a fact is not

regarded as conclusive proof of it. In this respect, reference may be made to a

long line of precedents that includes Ram Chandra and Ram Bharosey v. State

of U=ar Pradesh, AIR 1957 SC 381, Shashi Kumar Banerjee v. Subodh Kumar

Banerjee, AIR 1964 SC 529, Magan Bihari Lal v. State of Punjab, (1977) 2 SCC

210, and S. Gopal Reddy v. State of Andhra Pradesh, (1996) 4 SCC 596.

11. We may par;cularly refer to the decision of the Cons;tu;on Bench of this

Court  in Shashi  Kumar  Banerjee (supra), where  it  was  observed  that  the

evidence  of  a  handwri;ng  expert  can  rarely  be  given  precedence  over

substan;ve  evidence.  In  the  said  case,  the  Court  chose  to  disregard  the

tes;mony  of  the  handwri;ng  expert  as  to  the  disputed  signature  of  the

testator of a Will, finding such evidence to be inconclusive. The Court instead

relied on the clear  tes;mony of the two a:es;ng witnesses as well  as the

circumstances surrounding the execu;on of the Will.”

40. Contrary to the facts of Shashi Kumar Banarjee (supra) and Chen-

nadi Jalpathi Reddi (supra)  as above, wherein the tes;mony of  a:es;ng wit-

nesses were found to be quite reliable, with no reason to disbelieve them de-

spite their lengthy cross-examina;on, facts in present case are en;rely differ-

ent. As no;ced earlier:

� The tes;monies of PW-1 & PW-2 are not reliable. PW-2 Tarsem Lal

is the close rela;ve being wife’s sister’s husband of plain;ff, work-

ing in his office as property dealer. 

� Plain;ff – vendee as well as both the a:es;ng witnesses are prop-

erty dealers, who acted under conspiracy to grab the property of
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five co-owners in collusion with one of them namely Lakhpat Rai.

� None of the plain;ff’s witnesses have been able to disclose this

Court as to who typed the agreement to sell, where it was typed

and who got it typed and on what date. There are inherent contra-

dic;ons regarding the date of the typing of the agreement.

� Scribe neither examined by the plain;ffs nor by Sumesh Gupta, re-

ferred as mediator of the deal in Ex.P1. Rather, he was examined

by defendants as DW7, Sumesh Gupta did not support plain;ff’s

case.

� The draJ agreement to sell  was handed over only to defendant

Lakhpat Rai, who told the plain;ff that he had shown it to defen-

dant No.4 Ramesh Kumar. Thus, par;cipa;on of other sellers is not

at all proved in the execu;on of the agreement. 

� The  evidence  on  record  has  also  established  that  signature  of

Ramesh Kumar and Jokhi Ram on the agreement to sell as well as

receipt are forged documents. 

� Respondents- plain;ffs have also not been able to convince this

Court as to why two joint bank accounts were opened, one in the

name of three sellers, in which Lakhpat Rai was one of the account

holder; and the other in the joint name of Kamlesh Rani and Jokhi

Ram. Lakhpat Rai was the proposer at the ;me of opening both

the accounts. It is par;cularly necessary to no;ce that Jokhi Ram

was already having a saving account in the same bank i.e. Syndi-

cate Bank. It is beyond comprehension, as to why a person will get

a joint account opened, when he is already having an individual

saving account in the same bank. 

� There is no evidence to prove that apart from Lakhpat Rai & Kam-

lesh Rani, anybody else had withdrawn the amount. 
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41. In the above said facts and circumstances, plain;ffs – contes;ng

respondents  cannot be given any advantage of  Shashi Kumar Banarjee and

Chennadi Jalpathi Reddi (cited supra)  to discard the unrebu:ed tes;mony of

DW5 Navdeep Gupta with regard to the forged signatures of Ramesh & Jokhi

Ram on agreement to sell Ex.P1.

42. In view of all the aforesaid circumstances, it is held that agreement

Ex.P.1 was not at all  proved to be executed by Jokhi Ram, Chawli  Devi and

Ramesh Kumar and the same is proved to be forged and fabricated document

by forging the signatures of these co-owners.  

Collusion between plain�ff JD Gupta and defendant Lakhpat Rai:

43. The evidence and the circumstances clearly indicate the collusion

between the plain;ff JD Gupta and Lakhpat Rai. It is Lakhpat Rai, who appears

to have colluded with said plain;ff to the prejudice of all other sellers, just in

order to obtain money from the plain;ff, although his conten;on to the effect

that he had taken the loan of ₹2,00,000/- and on that pretext, he and his wife

Kamlesh had signed the blank documents, is not proved convincingly. Why two

joint accounts were got opened by him on 9.8.1994 and then, all 5 cheques got

encashed on 10.8.1994 as evident from Ex.P63, the bank statement of plain;ff.

It is because on 24.7.1994, there was no sufficient money in the account of

plain;ff. It is only on 9.8.1994 that he deposited ₹1,50,000/- in his account and

then the 5 cheques were encashed on 10.8.1994 aJer opening of the two joint

accounts in the name of vendors on 9.8.1994. All these circumstances taken cu-

mula;vely clearly indicate the collusion between the plain;ff JD Gupta and de-

fendant Lakhpat Rai in order to grab the property of other co-owners.

44. As  far  as  conten;on  of  learned  counsel  for  the  respondents-

plain;ffs that onus to prove that plain;ff had obtained signature of defendant

Lakhpat Rai and his wife Kamlesh on blank papers on the pretext of advancing

loan of ₹2,00,000/- was en;rely upon them and that except for the oral state-

ment made by Lakhpat Rai in this regard, no other evidence has been led so as

to discharge this onus, it has merit. Reliance is rightly placed in this regard on
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“Laxman Tatyaba Kankate Vs. Tarama� Harishchandra Dhatrak” (2010) 7 SCC

717.  

45. However, this Court has already observed that though the stand

of the defendants Lakhpat Rai is not proved to the effect that his signatures

were obtained by the plain;ff on the blank papers but the collusion of the de-

fendant- Lakhpat Rai with the plain;ff is large in the facts and circumstances of

the case, as have been no;ced earlier and which is certainly to the prejudice of

the other sellers, par;cularly Jokhi Ram and Ramesh. 

46. The conten;on of Ld. Counsel for contes;ng respondents that all

defendants are residing together with no dispute amongst them, is without any

merit. DW6 Urmila came to picture only when she alongwith Raj Dulari was im-

pleaded as LR of Chawli Devi in 2002. She was not even aware about her right

in the suit property or about proposed sale one month prior to her appearing in

the witness box as has come in her tes;mony. In the circumstances, her state-

ment  that there was no conflict amongst her brothers is irrelevant. Statements

of two neighbours DW1 Satpal Goyal & DW2 Sanjay Sharma to the effect that

Jokhi Ram was living along with his two sons Ramesh and Lakhpat Rai in same

house also don’t prove the collusion between all the defendants. As such con-

ten;on of  conten;on of contes;ng respondents in this regard is  hereby re-

jected.

Readiness and Willingness: 

47. Learned counsel has referred to “Subhash Chand v. Surjit Singh”

RSA-2089-2016 (PHHC) and  “Balwant Singh v. Pritam Singh” RSA-4678-2012,

wherein reply to the legal no;ce was not sent. No criminal complaint was filed

alleging forgery. It was held that agreement to sell was duly proved. 

48. Learned counsel for the contes;ng respondents further refers to

“R. Lakshminathan v. Devaraji” (2019) 8 SCC 62 in order to contend that the

facts are iden;cal, as correspondence in that case and legal no;ces proved that

plain;ff was communica;ng with the defendants that he was ready with the

balance sale considera;on for the sale deed to be executed, which established
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his readiness and willingness. Learned counsel contends that it is the clear cut

case where defendants wanted to wriggle out of the agreement and therefore,

decree  of  specific  performance  in  favour  of  the  plain;ff  has  been  rightly

granted. 

49. This court is unable to accept the conten;on in the light of facts

and circumstances of present case, as proved on record. The ques;on of readi-

ness and willingness on the part of plain;ffs will arise only in case the valid exe-

cu;on of agreement to sell is proved on record. In the present case, once the

agreement to  sell Ex.P1 is not proved to be validly executed par;cularly be-

tween the plain;ff and Jokhi Ram & Ramesh, any readiness and willingness on

the part of the plain;ff loses its significance. Simply because defendants did not

respond to the legal no;ce will not mean that they admi:ed the agreement to

sell or they were bound to execute the sale deed.

Concurrent finding of facts – scope to interfere by the High Court:  

50. Another  conten;on  raised  by  learned  counsel  for  the  respon-

dents- plain;ffs is that there is concurrent finding of fact and that there is no

reason to interfere in the same. Again, this Court does not find merit in the con-

ten;on, having regard to all the facts and circumstances of the case and when

the Court is convinced that both the Courts have grossly erred in apprecia;ng

the evidence on file.

51. Learned counsel for the plain;ffs – contes;ng respondents has re-

ferred to “Avtar Singh & ors. v. Bimla Devi & ors. (2021) 13 SCC 816 in order to

contend that even as per Sec;on 41 of Punjab Courts Act, 1918, the concurrent

finding of fact cannot be interfered with, howsoever erroneous, gross or inex-

cusable the error may seem to be, in exercise of second appellate jurisdic;on. 

52. Reliance is  also  placed upon  “Shivali  Enterprises  v.  Godawari”

2022 SCC Online SC 1211, wherein it has been held by Hon’ble Supreme Court

that:

“17. It would thus be clear that this Court has held that, though it is not neces-
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sary to formulate a substan;al ques;on of law, the jurisdic;on under Sec;on

41 of the Punjab Act would permit only such decisions to be considered in sec-

ond appeal which are contrary to law or to some custom or usage having the

force of law, or when the courts below have failed to determine some material

issue of law or custom or usage having the force of law. The Court held that

second appeal is not a forum where the court is to reexamine or reappreciate

the ques;on of fact se:led by the trial court or the Appellate Court. It could

thus clearly be seen that though in view of Sec;on 41 of the Punjab Act, it is

not necessary to frame a substan;al ques;on of law, the jurisdic;on of the

High Court under second appeal cannot be exercised for reapprecia;on of evi-

dence.”

53. As it has been found in the present case that plain;ffs failed to

prove due execu;on of agreement to sell Ex.P1 and rather, the same is proved

to contain forged signatures of at least two of the executants namely, Ramesh

and Jokhi Ram and without the plain;ffs having proved the validity of Ex.P1, the

trial court while framing issues, wrongly put the burden to prove the forgery of

the document on the defendants and besides this findings of courts below are

found to be perverse in total disregard to the evidence on record, so ques;on is

as to whether High Court cannot intervene even  in such circumstances.

54. Though, burden of proof may not be of much significance aJer

both the par;es led the evidence but while apprecia;ng the ques;on of burden

of proof, misplacing of burden of proof on a par;cular party and recording find-

ings in a par;cular way will definitely vi;ate the judgment. There are several

precedents  on the issue of  the scope and ambit  of  the apprecia;on of evi-

dence; interference in second appeal; the ques;on of burden of proof; ques-

;on of substan;al ques;on of law and such aspects but it is in the light of the

facts  and circumstances  of  the  present  case  that  it  is  required  to  be  seen

whether this court should intervene in the concurrent findings of facts of the

courts below.

55. In “Mst. Chand Kaur v. Mst. Jiwi” 1968 Crl.J.554, this Court re-

ferred to “N.S. Venkatagiri Ayyangar v. Hindu Religious Endowments Board,
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Madras” AIR 1949 Privy Council 157 and held that Sec;on 115 of the Civil Pro-

cedure Code (pertaining to revision) empowers the High Court to sa;sfy itself,

inter alia that in exercising jurisdic;on the trial Court has not acted illegally,

that is, in breach of some provision of law, or with material irregularity, that is,

by commiNng some error of procedure in the course of the trial, which is mate-

rial in that it may have affected the ul;mate decision. The crucial words are

those that have been underlined. The error of procedure commi:ed by the trial

Court in wrongly cas;ng the burden of proof on the defendants in respect of

this issue, is a palpable or a gross error, which will materially affect the ul;mate

decision of the Court, on this issue.

56.1 In  “Municipal Commi=ee, Hoshiarpur v. Punjab State Electricity

Board” 2010 (13) SCC 2016, Hon’ble Supreme Court considered as to when the

second appeal is maintainable, where the finding of the Courts below is per-

verse. It has been held by as under:

“17. While dealing with the issue, this Court in Leela Soni & Ors.  v.  Rajesh

Goyal & Ors., (2001) 7 SCC 494, observed as under:

"20.  There  can  be  no  doubt  that  the  jurisdic;on  of  the  High  Court

under Sec;on 100 of the Code of Civil Procedure (CPC) is confined to the

framing of substan;al ques;ons of law involved in the second appeal

and  to  decide  the  same. Sec;on  101 CPC  provides  that  no  second

appeal shall  lie except on the grounds men;oned in Sec;on 100 CPC.

Thus it is clear that no second appeal can be entertained by the High

Court on ques;ons of fact, much less can it interfere in the findings of

fact recorded by the lower appellate court. This is so, not only when it is

possible for the High Court to take a different view of the ma:er but

also when the High Court finds that  conclusions on ques;ons of fact

recorded by the first appellate court are erroneous.

21. It  will  be apt to refer to Sec;on 103 CPC which enables the High

Court to determine the issues of fact:

xx xx xx

22. The sec;on, noted above, authorises the High Court to determine

any  issue  which  is  necessary  for  the  disposal  of  the  second  appeal
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provided the evidence on record is sufficient, in any of the following two

situa;ons: (1) when that issue has not been determined both by the trial

court  as well  as the lower appellate court  or by the lower appellate

court; or (2) when both the trial court as well as the appellate court or

the  lower  appellate  court  have  wrongly  determined  any  issue  on  a

substan;al ques;on of law which can properly be the subject-ma:er of

second appeal under Sec;on 100 CPC."

56.2 AJer referring to Sec;on 100 & 103 CPC, Hon’ble Supreme

Court held as under:

“22………..Thus,  it  is  evident  that Sec;on  103 C.P.C.  is  not  an  excep;on

to Sec;on 100 C.P.C. nor is it  meant to supplant it,  rather it  is to serve the

same purpose. Even while pressing Sec;on 103 C.P.C. in service, the High Court

has to record a finding that  it had to exercise such power, because it found

that finding(s) of fact recorded by the court(s) below stood vi;ated because of

perversity. More  so,  such  power  can  be  exercised  only  in  excep;onal

circumstances and with circumspec;on, where the core ques;on involved in

the case has not been decided by the court(s) below.

23. There is no prohibi;on on entertaining a second appeal even on a ques;on

of fact provided the Court is sa;sfied that the findings of fact recorded by the

courts below stood vi;ated by non-considera;on of relevant evidence or by

showing an erroneous approach to the ma:er i.e. that the findings of fact are

found to be perverse. But the High Court cannot interfere with the concurrent

findings of fact in a rou;ne and casual manner by subs;tu;ng its subjec;ve

sa;sfac;on in place of that of the lower courts. (Vide: Jagdish Singh v. Na=hu

Singh,  AIR  1992  SC  1604; Karnataka  Board  of  Wakf  v.  Anjuman-     E-Ismail  

Madris-Un-Niswan,  AIR 1999 SC 3067;  and Dinesh Kumar v.  Yusuf Ali,  AIR

2010 SC 2679).

24. If a finding of fact is arrived at by ignoring or excluding relevant material or

by  taking  into  considera;on  irrelevant  material  or  if  the  finding  so

outrageously defies logic as to suffer from the vice of irra;onality incurring the

blame of being perverse, then the finding is rendered infirm in the eyes of law.

If  the findings of the Court are based on no evidence or evidence which is

thoroughly  unreliable  or  evidence  that  suffers  from  the  vice  of  procedural
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irregularity  or the findings are such that  no reasonable person would have

arrived at those findings, then the findings may be said to be perverse. Further

if the findings are either ipse dixit of the Court or based on conjecture and

surmises, the judgment suffers from the addi;onal infirmity of non-applica;on

of mind and thus, stands vi;ated. (Vide: Bharatha Matha & Anr. v. R. Vijaya

Renganathan & Ors., AIR 2010 SC 2685)

25. In view of above, the law on the issue can be summarised to the effect that

a second appeal lies only on a substan;al ques;on of law and it is necessary to

formulate a substan;al ques;on of law before the second appeal is decided.

The  issue  of  perversity  itself  is  a  substan;al  ques;on  of  law and,

therefore, Sec;on  103 C.P.C.  can  be  held  to  be  supplementary  to Sec;on

100 C.P.C., and does not supplant it altogether. Reading it otherwise, would

render the provisions of Sec;on 100 C.P.C. redundant. It is only an issue that

involves a substan;al ques;on of law, that can be adjudicated upon by the

High Court itself instead of remanding the case to the court below, provided

there is sufficient evidence on record to adjudicate upon the said issue and

other  condi;ons men;oned  therein  stand fulfilled.  Thus,  the  object  of  the

Sec;on is to avoid remand and adjudicate the issue if  the finding(s) of fact

recorded by the court(s) below are found to be perverse. The court is under an

obliga;on to give no;ce to all the par;es concerned for adjudica;on of the

said issue and decide the same aJer giving them full opportunity of hearing.”

57. Similarly in  “Easwari v. Parvathi” 2014 (15) SCC 255, there was

concurrent finding of Courts below. It was held by Hon’ble Supreme Court that

there is no absolute ban on the High Court in second appeal to interfere with

the facts. High Court cannot be precluded from reversing the order and judg-

ment of the lower and Appellate Court, if there is perversity in the decision due

to mis-apprecia;on of evidence. 

58. In  “Kashmir Singh vs. Harnam Singh” 2008 AIR Supreme Court

1749, Hon’ble Supreme Court has reiterated the fact that though High Court

will not interfere with the concurrent findings of the Courts below but it is not

an absolute rule. There are some excep;ons to it, such as - ignoring material

evidence or ac;ng on no evidence; drawing wrong inferences from the proved
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fact by  applying the law erroneously; wrongly cas;ng the burden of proof; bas-

ing the decision upon no evidence; where there is the evidence, but taken as a

whole, it is not reasonably capable of suppor;ng the finding. 

59. In RSA-5792-2019 decided on 30.01.2024 �tled “Sukhdev v. Man-

ish Aggarwal  and Others”,  a  co-ordinate Bench of  this  Court  discussed the

scope of Sec;on 41 of the Punjab Courts Act besides Sec;on 100 of the Code of

Civil Procedure in respect of the scope of interference in the Regular Second

Appeal by holding that scope of interference in RSA is wider under Sec;on 41 of

the Punjab Courts Act when compared with Sec;on 100 CPC. It will be relevant

to produce the observa;ons made by the Court in this regard:

“ 13. First of all, the scope of interference in regular second appeal is required

to be examined. In the States of Punjab, Haryana and Union Territory Chandi-

garh, the filing of Regular Second Appeals is governed by Sec;on 41 of the

Punjab Courts Act, 1918, which reads as under:- 

“41. Second appeals— (1) An appeal shall lie to the High Court from every de-

cree passed in appeal by any Court subordinate to the High Court on any of the

following grounds, namely : 

(a) the decision being contrary to law or to some custom or usage having the

force of law : 

(b) the decision having failed to determine some material issue of law or cus-

tom or usage having the force of law : 

(c) a substan;al error or defect in the procedure provided by the Code of Civil

Procedure 1908 [V of 1908], or by any other law for the ;me being in force

which may possibly have produced error or defect in the decision of the case

upon the merits; Explana;on—A ques;on rela;ng to the existence or validity

of a custom or usage shall be deemed to be a ques;on of law within the mean-

ing of his sec;on:] 

(2) An appeal may lie under this sec;on from an appellate decree passed ex

parte. 

(3) [Repealed by Sec;on 2B of Punjab Act 6 of 1941]” 

14. While interpre;ng Sec;on 100 of the Code of Civil Procedure (hereinaJer

referred to as 'CPC'),  the Hon'ble Supreme Court has consistently held that

there is no prohibi;on in entertaining a second appeal provided the Court is
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sa;sfied that a finding of fact stand vi;ated by non considera;on of material

evidence or erroneous approach. Reliance in this regard can be placed on the

judgment passed in Municipal Commi=ee, Hoshiarpur, vs. Punjab State Elec-

tricity Board and others, 2011 (1) CCC 1. In Vidhyadhar vs. Manikraoo and an-

other, (1999) 3 SCC 573, the Supreme Court held that perverse finding based

on no evidence is liable to be interfered with. In Easwari vs. Parvathi and oth-

ers, (2014) 15 SCC 255, it was held that when the finding is not supported by

evidence due to misapplica;on of evidence, interference in second appeal is

permissible. Similarly, in  Shri Hafzat Hussain vs. Abdul Majeed, (2001) 7 SCC

189, the Supreme Court held that non-interference in the finding of fact is not

an absolute  rule.  In  Yadarao Dajiba  Shrawane (dead)  by  LRs  vs.  Nani  Lal

Harakchand Shah (Dead) and others, (2002) 6 SCC 404, the Court held as un-

der:- 

“31. From the discussions in the judgment it is clear that the High Court

has based its findings on the documentary evidence placed on record

and statements made by some witnesses which can be construed as ad-

missions or conclusions. The posi;on is well se:led that when the judg-

ment of the final Court of fact is based on misinterpreta;on of docu-

mentary evidence or on considera;on of inadmissible evidence or ig-

noring material evidence the High Court in second appeal is en;tled to

interfere with the judgment. The posi;on is also well se:led that admis-

sion of par;es or their witnesses are relevant pieces of evidence and

should be given due weightage by Courts. A finding of fact ignoring such

admissions or concessions is vi;ated in law and can be interfered with

by the High Court in second appeal. Since the par;es have been in li;-

ga;ng terms for several decades the records are voluminous. The High

Court as it appears from the judgment has discussed the documentary

evidence threadbare in the light of law rela;ng to their admissibility and

relevance.” 

15. Under Sec;on 41 of the Punjab Courts Act, 1918, the scope of interference

in the regular second appeal is wider when compared with Sec;on 100 CPC.

On careful  reading of  the three sub clauses of  Sec;on 41(1)  of  the Punjab

Courts Act, 1918, it is evident that the decision which is contrary to law or the

decision which failed to determine some material issue of law as also a sub-
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stan;al error or defect in the procedure provided under the Code of Civil Pro-

cedure or by any other law for the ;me being in force which may possibly have

produced error or defect in the decision of the case, are amenable to interfer-

ence in second appeal. Sub-clause No.(c) of Sec;on 41 (1) of the Punjab Courts

Act, 1918, enables the High Court for the States of Punjab, Haryana and Union

Territory, Chandigarh, to re appreciate the evidence, if the decision is suffering

from substan;al error or defect resul;ng in defect in the decision of the case.

Consequently, it is permissible for the Court while deciding second appeal to

re-appreciate the evidence if the decisions of the Courts suffer from perversity.

However, it is not permissible to interfere if two views are possible. The inter-

ference in the second appeal has to be restricted to rare and excep;onal cases

where the court finds that the findings of fact stand vi;ated by erroneous ap-

proach based on miss applica;on of evidence or reliance on inadmissible evi-

dence.” 

60. To conclude,  legal  principles,  which can be culled out are that

though High Court is not to interfere with the concurrent findings of the Courts

below but it is not an absolute rule. There are some excep;ons for interference

by the High Court, when it is found that:

� When finding of fact by the Courts below is vi;ated by non consid-

era;on of material evidence or erroneous approach.

� The Courts have drawn wrong inferences from the proved facts by

applying the law erroneously.

� The Courts have wrongly cast the burden of proof.

� When decision is based upon no evidence, which would mean that

not only there is total dearth of evidence but also, where is the evi-

dence taken as a whole, is not reasonably capable of suppor;ng

the finding. 

� When the judgment of the final Court of fact is based on misinter-

preta;on of documentary evidence or on considera;on of inad-

missible evidence or ignoring material evidence.

61. In the light of above excep;ons, when the evidence on record in

the present case is analysed, it is found that courts below not only wrongly cast
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the burden of  proof on defendants  to prove fabrica;on/fraud in  respect of

agreement to sell Ex.P1, the execu;on of which the plain;ffs as propounder

failed to prove, the courts below have even drawn wrong inferences from the

proved facts by  applying the law erroneously. The judgment of trial court and

also of the first appellate court as final Court of fact, is based on misinterpreta-

;on of documentary evidence or on considera;on of inadmissible evidence and

by ignoring material evidence. It is found that the evidence taken as a whole, is

not reasonably capable of suppor;ng the findings returned by the courts be-

low. 

62. As such, the conten;on of Ld. Counsel for contes;ng respondents

to the effect that there is no reason to interfere  in concurrent finds of facts of

courts below, is found to be devoid of any merit and, so the same is rejected.

Effect of non-joinder of necessary party:

63. Proceeding  further,  it  is  not  in  dispute  that  there  are  five  co-

owners of the property in dispute. Apart from the defendants, i.e., Smt. Chawli

Devi, Lakhpat Rai, Ramesh Kumar and Smt. Kamlesh Rani, Jokhi Ram are co-

owner to the extent of 1/5th share. Jokhi Ram is also alleged to be one of the

executants of the agreement to sell (Ex.P1). Prior to filing of the suit, Jokhi Ram

had  admi:edly  expired.  Therefore,  in  order  to  seek  the  relief  of  specific

performance  based  upon  the  agreement  (Ex.P1)  purported  to  have  been

executed  by  all  the  five  co-owners,  it  was  impera;ve  for  the  plain;ffs  to

implead all the co-owners, i.e. executants of the agreement to sell. However,

legal heirs of Jokhi Ram were not impleaded as a party to the suit. 

64. It is not in dispute that apart from his widow Smt. Chawli Devi,

Jokhi Ram had leJ behind four other legal heirs, i.e., two sons, (namely Ramesh

Kumar and Lakhpat Rai) and two daughters, (i.e., Raj Dulari and Urmila). On the

death  of  Jokhi  Ram,  succession  opened  regarding  his  estate,  as  succession

never remains in abeyance and therefore, his 1/5th share in the suit property

devolved upon his five legal heirs, which means that Urmila and Raj Dulari had

1/25th share each  in  the suit  property.  Thus,  even at  the ;me of  filing  the
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suit, said Raj Dulari and Urmila had 1/25th share each, inasmuch as on the death

of Jokhi Ram, they had become co-owners of the suit property to this extent.

Simply by pleading in the plaint that the plain;ffs were not aware about the

legal heirs of Jokhi Ram, will not absolve the plain;ffs from the necessity  to

implead all the legal heirs of Jokhi Ram. 

65. The conten;on of learned counsel for the contes;ng respondents

that Chawli Devi, Ramesh and Lakhpat Rai were duly impleaded as a party to

the suit; and that Raj Dulari and Urmila were also brought on record aJer the

death of Chawli, has no substance. First of all, Lakhpat Rai, Ramesh and Chawli

Devi were impleaded in their individual capacity being co-owners of 1/5th share

each in the suit property and not as legal heirs of Jokhi Ram to represent his

estate. Further, Urmila and Raj Dulari were brought on record aJer the death

of Chawli Devi as her LRs and not in the capacity of LRs of Jokhi Ram, so as to

represent his estate. Even in 2002, when legal representa;ves of Urmila were

brought on record, plain;ffs did not take any step to implead the legal heirs of

Jokhi Ram as a party to the suit. So much so, when Urmila alongwith Raj Dulari

moved  an  applica;on  to  produce  evidence  before  the  trial  Court,  the

applica;on was declined, as no;ced earlier. 

66. To know the effect of non-joinder of necessary par;es, Oder 1 Rule

9 CPC is relevant, which reads as under:-

“Order I Rule 9 CPC - Misjoinder and non-joinder.—No suit shall be defeated

by reason of the misjoinder or non-joinder of par;es, and the Court may in

every suit deal with the ma:er in controversy so far as regards the rights and

interests of the par;es actually before it: 

Provided that nothing in this  rule shall  apply to non-joinder of a necessary

party.”

67. Reading  of  the  above  Rule  makes  it  clear  that  as  a  general

principle, a suit cannot be defeated by the reason of mis-joinder or the non-

joinder of the necessary par;es and that Court may decide the controversy in

ques;on so far as the rights and the interest of the par;es actually  before it,
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are concerned. However, this general principle is not applicable, when it is a

case  of  non-joinder  of  such  a  necessary  party,  in  whose  absence  the

controversy can not be decided and the main relief claimed in the suit cannot

be granted. 

68. Reliance can be placed on Moreshar Yadaorao Mahajan Versus

Vyankatesh Sitaram Bhedi 2022 SCC OnLine SC 1307. In that case, suit property

was  jointly  owned  by  the  defendant,  his  wife  and  three  sons.  Defendant

entered into agreement to sell with the plain;ff. Suit for specific performance

filed by plain;ff was decreed by the trial court. The appellate court affirmed it.

Bombay High Court, in the appeal filed by defendant, set aside the judgments

of courts below and declined relief of specific performance, as it was found that

suit was bad for non-joinder of necessary par;es.  Plain;ff approached Apex

Court.  Dismissing the appeal,  it  was observed by Hon’ble Supreme Court  as

under:

“17. This Court, in the case of  Mumbai Interna�onal Airport Private Limited

(2010) 7 SCC 417, has observed thus: 

“15. A “necessary party” is a person who ought to have been joined as a party

and in whose absence no effec;ve decree could be passed at all by the court.

If a “necessary party” is not impleaded, the suit itself is liable to be dismissed.

A “proper party” is a party who, though not a necessary party, is a person

whose  presence  would  enable  the  court  to  completely,  effec;vely  and

adequately adjudicate upon all ma:ers in dispute in the suit, though he need

not be a person in favour of or against whom the decree is to be made. If a

person is  not  found to  be  a  proper  or  necessary  party,  the court  has  no

jurisdic;on to implead him, against the wishes of the plain;ff. The fact that a

person is likely to secure a right/interest in a suit property, aJer the suit is

decided against the plain;ff, will not make such person a necessary party or a

proper party to the suit for specific performance.” 

18. It could thus be seen that a “necessary party” is a person who ought to

have been joined as a party and in whose absence no effec;ve decree could be

passed at all by the court. It has been held that if a “necessary party” is not

impleaded, the suit itself is liable to be dismissed.  
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19. As already discussed hereinabove, the plain;ff himself has admi:ed in the

plaint that the suit property is jointly owned by the defendant, his wife and

three sons. A specific objec;on was also taken by the defendant in his wri:en

statement  with  regard  to  non-joinder  of  necessary  par;es.  Since  the  suit

property was jointly owned by the defendant along with his wife and three

sons, an effec;ve decree could not have been passed affec;ng the rights of the

defendant's wife and three sons without impleading them. Even in spite of the

defendant taking an objec;on in that regard, the plain;ff has chosen not to

implead the defendant's wife and three sons as party defendants. Insofar as

the reliance placed by Shri Chitnis on the judgment of this Court in the case of

Kasturi (supra) is concerned, the ques;on therein was as to whether a person

who claims independent ;tle and possession adversely to the ;tle of a vendor

could be a necessary party or not. In this context, this Court held thus: 

“7. …….From the above, it is now clear that two tests are to be sa;sfied for

determining the ques;on who is a necessary party. Tests are” (1) there must

be a right to some relief against such party in respect of the controversies

involved in  the proceedings;  (2)  no effec;ve decree can be  passed in  the

absence of such party.” 

20. It can thus be seen that what has been held by this Court is that for being a

necessary party, the twin test has to be sa;sfied. The first one is that there

must be a right to some relief against such party in respect of the controversies

involved in the proceedings. The second one is that no effec;ve decree can be

passed in the absence of such a party. 

21. In view of the plain;ff's own admission that the suit property was jointly

owned by the defendant, his wife and three sons, no effec;ve decree could

have been passed in their absence.

22. In that view of the ma:er, we find that no error can be no;ced in the

judgment of the High Court. The appeals are therefore liable to be dismissed.”

69. Facts of the present case are squarely covered by the abovesaid

judgment. In the present case also, Smt. Urmila and Raj Dulari are co-owners in

the suit property to the extent of 1/25th share each at the ;me of filing of the

suit, so obviously they were necessary party to the suit. It has already been
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no;ced that legal heirs of Jokhi Ram, who was allegedly one of the executants

of the agreement to sell, were not brought on record. In these circumstances,

this  Court  has no hesita;on to conclude that  suit  is  bad for  non-joinder of

necessary par;es and on this ground alone, the suit was liable to be dismissed. 

Non-filing  of  appeal  before  first  appellate  court  by  appellants  other  than

Ramesh – effect thereof:

70.1 Another  conten;on of counsel for the  contes;ng respondents is

that only Ramesh had filed the appeal before the First Appellate Court and no

other defendants and so, appeal filed by Lakhpat Rai and Kamlesh before this

court is not maintainable. Learned counsel refers to “Shri Gangai Vinayagar

Temple & another” 2015(3) SCC 624 in order to contend that principle of res ju-

dicata is applicable to appeals under Sec;on 96; that losing party must file ap-

peal in respect of all adverse decrees. Once decree is not assailed, it assumes

the character of former suit. Law considers it an anathema to allow a party to

achieve a result indirectly, when it has deliberately or negligently failed to di-

rectly ini;ate proceedings towards this purpose. 

70.2 It  may be  noted  that  in  the above  cited case  i.e. Shri  Gangai

Vinayagar Temple and another (supra), mul;ple suits were disposed of by one

common judgment but by separate decrees. Appeal was preferred against the

decree passed in one suit only. The suit, in respect of which decree was passed

but appeal was not preferred against, was held to have assumed the character

of the former suit. 

70.3 The facts of present case are quite dis;nguishable and therefore,

principles laid in Shri Gangai Vinayagar Temple’s case are not applicable to the

facts of the present case.

71. Learned counsel for the respondents also referred to “Joginder

Singh & Anr. v. Jugal Kishore & Anr.” 2017 (1), RSA No.175 of 2015 Rent LR

140. In that case, judgment of the trial Court a:ained finality against defendant

Nos.2 & 3, who had not filed the appeal. It is only defendant No.1, who had

filed appeal  before the first  Appellate Court.  The other defendants  had not
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joined him in the appeal. It was held by this court that second appeal by defen-

dant Nos.2 and 3 was not maintainable. 

72.            On the other hand, it is argued by Ld. Counsels for appellants

Lakhpat  Rai  and  Kamlesh  and  also  by  counsel  for  respondent  Urmila  that

fragmenta;on of the property in Chandigarh is not permissible under law and

as such, Lakhpat Rai and Kamlesh, even if did not file the appeal before the First

Appellate Court, their appeal before this court is maintainable under Order 41

Rule  33  CPC.

73. It is no doubt true that except for defendant No.4 Ramesh Kumar,

who filed the first appeal, none of the other defendants had filed the appeal

before the first Appellate Court. However that in itself cannot be ground to re-

ject  these appeals considering the fact  that fragmenta;on of the residen;al

property in Chandigarh is not permissible under law. It has already been no-

;ced that suit is also bad for non-joinder of necessary party, as estate of Jokhi

Ram remained unrepresented. 

74. Capital  of  Punjab  (Development  and  Regula;on)  Act,  1952

regulates the developments in the city of Chandigarh. In the year 1960, the

Government of Punjab in exercise of the powers conferred under Sec;on 5 and

22 of the 1952 Act had made Chandigarh (Sale of Sites and Buildings) Rules

1960.   Rule  14  of  the  said  1960  Rules  prohibits  the  fragmenta;on  or

amalgama;on of  any  site  or  building.  In  “Residents  Welfare  Associa�on  v.

Union Territory of Chandigarh”, 2023 Live Law (SC) 24, Hon’ble Supreme Court

of  India  has  prohibited  the  conversion  of  independent  residen;al  units  as

apartments  in  Chandigarh  Phase-I  to  preserve  the  heritage  character  of

Corbusier’s  city.  Any  fragmenta;on,  division,  bifurca;on  and

apartmentaliza;on of residen;al unit in Phase-I of Chandigarh are prohibited. 

75. Since in the present suit, the suit property, i.e. House No.1, Sector

28A falls in the above category, i.e. Phase-I of Chandigarh, which is an undis-

puted fact, therefore, by permiNng part performance of the contract, fragmen-

ta;on cannot be allowed by this Court, as it will be in clear viola;on of law.
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76. For the above reasons, conten;on of Ld. Senior advocate for the

plain;ffs – contes;ng respondents to reject the appeal of Lakhpat Rai & Kam-

lesh, cannot be accepted.

Absence of clause in the agreement for seeking specific performance:

77. In order to contend that plain;ff is not en;tled for specific perfor-

mance, as alterna;ve was already provided in the agreement, counsel for the

appellants have relied upon  “Jai Kishan Garg v. Randhir Singh”, Civil Appeal

No.7896 of 2024 (SLP) Civil No.24741 of 2019,  decided by Hon’ble Supreme

Court on 22.07.2024, wherein it was observed that the relief of specific perfor-

mance is a discre;onary relief and where an alterna;ve was already provided in

the agreement itself and there was a valid reason for the defendant to not exe-

cute the sale deed, the alterna;ve relief ought to have been granted.

78. In reply to the conten;on of counsel for the appellants that there

is no specific provision in the agreement to sell Ex.P-1 so as to en;tle the plain-

;ff to seek the relief of specific performance and that there is a men;on only of

the alterna;ve remedy of claiming the refund of earnest money with double

the amount, learned counsel for the respondents has relied upon “Man Kaur v.

Hartar Singh Sangha” (2010) 10 SCC 512, wherein it has been held by Hon’ble

Supreme Court ;

“28. It is thus clear that for a plain;ff to seek specific performance of a con-

tract of sale rela;ng to immovable property, and for a court to grant such spe-

cific performance, it is not necessary that the contract should contain a specific

provision that in the event of breach, the aggrieved party will be en;tled to

specific performance. The Act makes it clear that if the legal requirements for

seeking specific enforcement of a contract are made out, specific performance

could be enforced as provided in the Act even in the absence of a specific term

for specific performance in the contract. It is evident from sec;on 23 of the Act

that even where the agreement of sale contains only a provision for payment

of damages or liquidated damages in case of breach and does not contain any

provision for specific performance, the party in breach cannot contend that in

view of specific provision for payment of damages, and in the absence of a pro-
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vision for specific performance, the court cannot grant specific performance.

But where the provision naming an amount to be paid in case of breach is in-

tended to give to the party in default an op;on to pay money in lieu of specific

performance, then specific performance may not be permissible.

29. We may a:empt to clarify the posi;on by the following illustra;ons (not

exhaus;ve):

(A). The agreement of sale provides that in the event of breach by the

vendor, the purchaser shall be en;tled to an amount equivalent to the

earnest  money  as  damages.  The  agreement  is  silent  as  to  specific

performance. In such a case, the agreement indicates that the sum was

named only  for  the purpose of  securing  performance of  the contract.

Even if there is no provision in the contract for specific performance, the

court  can  direct  specific  performance  by  the  vendor,  if  breach  is

established. But the court has the op;on, as per Sec;on 21 of the Act, to

award damages, if it comes to the conclusion that it is not a fit case for

gran;ng specific performance.

(B). The agreement provides that in the event of the vendor failing to execute

a sale deed, the purchaser will not be en;tled for specific performance but will

only be en;tled for return of the earnest money and/or payment of a sum

named as liquidated damages. As the inten;on of the par;es to bar specific

performance of  the contract and provide only for  damages in the event of

breach, is clearly expressed, the court may not grant specific performance, but

can award liquidated damages and refund of earnest money.

(C). The agreement of sale provides that in the event of breach by either party

the purchaser will be en;tled to specific performance, but the party in breach

will  have  the  op;on,  instead  of  performing  the  contract,  to  pay  a  named

amount as liquidated damages to the aggrieved party and on such payment,

the aggrieved party shall  not be en;tled to specific performance. In such a

case, the purchaser will not be en;tled to specific performance, as the terms

of the contract give the party in default an op;on of paying money in lieu of

specific performance.
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30. In this case, clauses 11 and 12 of the agreement deal with consequences of

breach. They are extracted below :

"11.  That  in  case  the  seller  fails  to  perform  his  part  of  contract  of  sale

according to the terms and condi;ons agreed upon in this agreement to sell in

ma:er of execu;on of the sale deed and its registra;on, on the receipt of the

balance sale price, he shall be liable to pay double the amount of the earnest

money received by her from the purchaser.

12. That in case the purchaser fails to get the transac;on of the sale completed

by means of execu;on and registra;on of sale deed according to the terms of

this  agreement  for  sale,  he  shall  forfeit  his  earnest  money  of  Rs.10,000/-

advanced by the purchaser to the said seller."

The  agreement  does  not  specifically  provide  for  specific  performance.  Nor

does it bar specific performance. It provides for payment of damages in the

event of breach by either party. The provision for damages in the agreement is

not  intended  to  provide  the  vendor  an  op;on  of  paying  money  in  lieu  of

specific  performance.  Therefore,  we  are  of  the  view  that  plain;ff  will  be

en;tled  to  seek  specific  performance  (even  in  the  absence  of  a  specific

provision therefor) subject to his proving breach by the defendant and that he

was ready and willing to perform his obliga;on under the contract, in terms of

the contract.”

79. Thus, the fact that there is no clause in the agreement to seek the

remedy of specific performance and that the contract provides for the alterna-

;ve in case of default, in itself cannot be a reason to decline the relief of spe-

cific performance.

80. In the present case, it is no doubt true that there is no men;on

about the relief of specific performance in the agreement to sell but that in it-

self cannot be a reason to decline specific performance to the plain;ffs- re-

spondents, but only when the legality and validity of the agreement to sell and

all other necessary ingredients so as to grant this relief are proved on record.

However, in this case, validity of the agreement itself is not proved and as such,

it is held that the plain;ffs- respondents have been wrongly granted the benefit
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of specific performance by the Courts below. 

Effect of efflux of �me and escala�on of price :

81. Learned counsel for the respondents has also cited various au-

thori;es in order to contend that efflux of ;me and escala;on of price of the

property by itself cannot be a valid ground to deny the relief of specific perfor-

mance. Reliance has been placed upon “Zarina Siddiqui v. Ramalingam” (2015)

1 SCC 70; “K. Prakash v. B.R Sampath Kumar” (2015) 1 SCC 705; “Narinderjit

Singh v. North Star Estate Promoters Ltd.” (2012) 5 SCC 712. 

82. This is true that escala;on in prices cannot be a ground to decline

the relief of specific performance nor the hardship on the part of vendors be a

ground but s;ll the Court is required to look into all the facts and circumstances

in order to see as to whether the equity lies in favour of the plain;ff to grant

the relief of specific performance. AJer all, the equitable relief is to be granted

and the discre;on is to be exercised based upon the sound judicial principles. 

Specific Performance - Discre�onary relief:

83. It is contended by learned Sr. Counsel for the contes;ng respon-

dents-plain;ffs that in case, the court comes to the conclusion that suit is bad

for non-joinder of necessary par;es, as legal heirs of Jokhi Ram were not im-

pleaded as a party, plain;ffs are en;tled to a decree for specific performance in

the suit property at least to the extent of 80%, i.e. qua the share of defendants

impleaded in the suit. 

84. There is no merit in the conten;on. The Court is not inclined to

exercise the discre;on of gran;ng the relief of specific performance to a person

like  plain;ff,  who  has  approached  the  Court  on  the  basis  of  forged  and

fabricated document and in collusion with one of the defendant Lakhpat Rai,

opened joint accounts in the name of five vendors so as to show the payment

of money to them. 

85. While deciding as to whether or not to grant the relief for specific

performance, the Court must be cognizant of the conduct of the par;es, the
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escala;on in the prices of the suit property is considered whether one party

will be unfairly benefited for the decree as has been held of Hon’ble Supreme

Court in case of “Shenbegam v. K.K. Rathinavel”, 2022 SCC Online SC 71. 

86. In “C. Haridasan v. Anappath Parakka=u Vasudeva Kurup & Oth-

ers” 2023 LiveLaw (SC) 31, the High Court had declined the relief for specific

performance by placing reliance on the Sec;on 20 of the Specific Relief Act

prior to the same being subs;tuted by way of Act No.18 of 2018. Ma:er went

to the Hon’ble Supreme Court. It was held as under:

“12. The High Court has relied on Sec;on 20 of the Act, prior to the same being

subs;tuted by way of Act No. 18 of 2018, to deny the relief of specific perfor-

mance to the plain;ff. Sec;on 20 of the Act as it stood prior to the Amend-

ment Act of 2018 provided that the jurisdic;on to decree specific performance

is discre;onary. It said that the Court is not bound to grant such relief merely

because it is lawful to do so. Such a discre;on, however, was not to be exer-

cised arbitrarily, but ought to have been based on sound and reasonable judi-

cial principles. The Sec;on also specified the circumstances in which the Court

may properly exercise the discre;on not to decree specific performance and it

also specified when, in an appropriate case, a decree could be given by proper

exercise of discre;on. Sec;on 20, as it then stood was not an exhaus;ve provi-

sion, but merely illustra;ve as it was not possible to define the circumstances

in which equitable relief could or could not be granted. If, therefore, on a con-

sidera;on of all the circumstances of the case, the Court thought that it would

be inequitable to grant the relief prayed for, it should not do so.

13. However, in Shenbagam vs. K.K. Rathinavel, 2022 SCC OnLine SC 71, this

Court reiterated that in deciding whether or not to grant the relief of specific

performance, the Courts must be cognizant of the conduct of the par;es, the

escala;on in the price of the suit property and consider whether one party will

unfairly benefit from the decree.

14.  By  way  of  the Specific  Relief  (Amendment)  Act,  2018 (hereinaJer  “the

Amendment  Act”), Sec;on  20 of  the  Act  has  been  subs;tuted,  thereby

rendering the relief of specific performance to be a statutory remedy, instead

of a discre;onary remedy. Previously, the unamended provision granted the
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courts the discre;on to deny the relief of specific performance, on the basis of

judicially developed excep;ons, even where it would otherwise be lawful to

direct  specific  performance.  Now,  such  statutorily  created  excep;ons  have

been  excluded.  The  Amendment  Act  has  eliminated  the  discre;on  of  the

courts in cases involving specific performance of contracts and grants a right to

an aggrieved party to seek specific performance of a contract in certain cases,

subject  to  the  provisions  contained  in Sec;ons  11(2), 14 and 16 of  the  Act.

These Sec;ons deal  with ‘Cases  in  which specific performance of  contracts

connected  with  trusts  being  enforceable’,  ‘contracts  which  cannot  be

specifically enforced’ and ‘personal bars to relief,’ respec;vely.

15. It is however to be noted that notwithstanding subs;tu;on of Sec;on 20 of

the  Act,  the  posi;on  of  law on  all  material  aspects,  such  as  the  essen;al

elements  of  readiness  and  willingness  and  other  aspects  under  the

unamended Sec;on 16 remains the same. In this regard, the decision of this

Court in Mehboob-Ur-Rehman (Dead) through LRs vs. Ahsanul Ghani – [(2019)

19 SCC 415] may be referred to. In the said case, this Court held that even

following the amendment of the Specific Relief Act, 1963, by way of Act No. 18

of 2018, the posi;on of law on all material aspects remains the same. It was

observed that, even following the amendment, the law was to the effect that

specific performance of a contract could not be granted or enforced in favour

to the person who fails to prove that he has already performed or has always

been ready and willing to perform the essen;al terms of the contract which

are to be performed by him, other than the terms of which, the performance

has been prevented or waived by the other party.

16. Reference may also be had to the decision of this Court in Sughar Singh vs.

Hari Singh (Dead) through LRs and Ors., A.I.R. 2021 SC 5581. In the said case,

the ques;on as to applicability of the unsubs;tuted provision of Sec;on 20 of

the  Act  on  transac;ons  entered  into  prior  to  the  date  on  which  the

Amendment Act of 2018, was kept open. However, the Court held that the

provisions subsequently subs;tuted, may act as a guide to Courts in exercising

discre;on  in  ma:ers  da;ng  prior to  the  subs;tu;on,  even  though  such

provisions  may not  apply  retrospec;vely.  The relevant  observa;ons of  this

Court have been extracted as under:
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“10.  Now,  so  far  as  the  finding  recorded  by  the  High  Court  and  the

observa;ons made by the High court on Sec;on 20 of the Act and the

observa;on that even if the agreement is found to be duly executed and

the plain;ff is found to be ready and willing to perform his part of the

Agreement, grant of decree of specific performance is not automa;c and

it  is  a  discre;onary  relief  is  concerned,  the same cannot  be  accepted

and/or  approved.  In  such  a  case,  many  a  ;mes  it  would  be  giving  a

premium  to  the  dishonest  conduct  on  the  part  of  the

defendant/executant  of  the  agreement  to  sell.  Even  the  discre;on

under Sec;on  20 of  the  Act  is  required  to  be  exercised  judiciously,

soundly and reasonably. The plain;ff cannot be punished by refusing the

relief of specific performance despite the fact that the execu;on of the

agreement to sell in his favour has been established and proved and that

he is found to be always ready and willing to perform his  part  of the

contract.  Not  to grant the decree of  specific performance despite the

execu;on of the agreement to sell is proved; part sale considera;on is

proved and the plain;ff is always ready and willing to perform his part of

the contract  would encourage the dishonesty.  In  such a  situa;on,  the

balance should ;lt in favour of the plain;ff rather than in favour of the

defendant  –  executant  of  the  agreement  to  sell,  while  exercising  the

discre;on judiciously. For the aforesaid, even amendment to the Specific

Relief  Act,  1963 by which sec;on 10(a) has  been inserted,  though may

not be applicable retrospec;vely but can be a guide on the discre;onary

relief. Now the legislature has also thought it to insert Sec;on 10(a) and

now the specific performance is no longer a discre;onary relief. As such

the  ques;on  whether  the  said  provision  would  be  applicable

retrospec;vely or not and/or should be made applicable to all pending

proceedings including appeals is kept open. However, at the same ;me,

as observed hereinabove, the same can be a guide.” (emphasis by me)

17. In B.  Santoshamma vs.  D.  Sarala  and Anr.,  (2020)  19 SCC 80 this  Court,

while examining the amendment made to Sec;on 10 of the Act observed that

aJer the amendment to Sec;on 10, the words "specific performance of any

contract  may,  in  the  discre;on  of  the  Court,  be  enforced"  have  been

subs;tuted  with  the  words  "specific  performance  of  a  contract  shall  be
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enforced  subject  to  the  provisions  contained  in  sub-sec;on  (2)  of Sec;on

11, Sec;on 14 and Sec;on 16".  It  was concluded that although the relief  of

specific  performance  of  a  contract  is  no  longer  discre;onary,  aJer  the

amendment,  the  same  would  s;ll  be  subject  to Sec;on  11, Sec;on

14 and Sec;on 16 of the Act.

18. Applying the law discussed above to the facts of the present dispute, I am

of  the view that even in  the absence of  discre;onary  power under Sec;on

20 to deny the relief of specific performance, the plain;ff was not en;tled to

claim such relief as a ma:er of right. The posi;on of law, even following the

amendment of 2018 remains that the provisions of Sec;on 16 of the Act have

to be mandatorily  complied with by  the party seeking  the relief  of  specific

performance. The relief of specific performance cannot be granted in favour of

a party who has not performed his obliga;ons under the contract……….” 

87. In “P. Purushotham Reddy vs. M/s Pratap Steels Ltd.” (D.B.) AIR

2003 (A.P.) 141, a Division Bench of Andhra Pradesh High Court by referring to

“P.V. Joseph’s Son Mathew v. Kuruvila’s Son” AIR 1987 Supreme Court 2328

held as under:

“Sec;on  20  of  the  Specific  Relief  Act,  1963  preserves  judicial  discre;on to

court as to decreeing specific performance. The court is not bound to grant

specific relief merely because it is lawful to do so. It is true, the discre;on con-

ferred upon the courts is not arbitrary but is required to be exercised in a rea-

sonable and sound manner guided by judicial principles. While exercising the

discre;on, the court is required to me;culously consider all the facts and cir-

cumstances of the case. The court should take care to see that it is not used as

an instrument of oppression to have an unfair advantage to the plain;ff.”

88. In  the  present  case,  plain;ffs  don’t  deserve  the  discre;on  of

specific performance for following main reasons, amongst others: 

1. Agreement to sell (Ex.P1) is not proved to have been executed by Jokhi

Ram and Ramesh. Rather, the signatures of Jokhi Ram and Ramesh on

the agreement to sell (Ex.P1) are proved to be forged. Even the thumb
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impressions of Smt. Chawli Devi on the agreement are not proved be-

yond doubt. 

1. When a party does not approach the Court with clean hands, it is not en-

;tled for the discre;onary relief like specific performance by the Court.

Plain;ffs having approached the Court  on the basis of  a  forged docu-

ment, cannot claim the relief for specific performance even in respect of

the part of the suit property.

2. Suit is bad for non-joinder of necessary par;es, as legal heirs of Jokhi

Ram, one of the co-owner of the suit property have not been impleaded

as party defendants. 

89. Looking into the en;rety of  the facts  and circumstances,  which

includes the conduct of the plain;ffs, this Court is  not inclined to grant the

relief of specific performance to the plain;ffs, even in respect of any part of the

suit property. It is also held that the Courts below commi:ed grave error in

gran;ng the said relief of specific performance to the plain;ffs, by ignoring the

material evidence on record.

Conclusion:

90. Consequent to en;re discussion as above, it is held that the judg-

ment passed by the Courts below cannot be sustained in the eyes of law. Plain-

;ffs- respondents have not been able to make out a case for grant of specific

performance. Judgments and decrees passed by the courts below gran;ng the

relief of specific performance are hereby set aside.

91. However. It is made clear that since defendant Lakhpat Rai along

with  his  wife  Kamlesh  Kumari  have  admi:ed the receipt  of  the amount  of

₹2,00,000/- on 24.07.1994 from plain;ff N: 1, therefore, they are bound to re-

fund it to said plain;ff. As such, a decree for recovery of ₹2,00,000/- in favour

of the plain;ff N: 1 is granted against defendant Nos.2 and 3 only i.e. Lakhpat

Rai and Kamlesh. The said amount shall be refunded to him along with interest

@ 9% per annum from the date of receipt of amount i.e. 24.07.1994 ;ll it is ac-

tually paid to the plain;ff. Appeals are partly allowed accordingly.
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92. Photocopy of this judgment be placed on the file of connected

case.

  

14.10.2024  
Nee�ka Tuteja

 (DEEPAK GUPTA)

JUDGE

 Whether speaking/reasoned? Yes

 Whether reportable? Yes
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